Agenda - Y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, Amgylchedd a
Materion Gwledig

Lleoliad: | gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a:
Ystafell Bwyllgora 3 - y Senedd Marc Wyn Jones

Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 12 Mehefin Clerc y Pwyllgor

2019 0300 200 6363

Amser: 09.15 SeneddNHAMG®@cynulliad.cymru

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau

2 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42(vi) i benderfynu gwahardd y
cyhoedd o'r cyfarfod heddiw ar gyfer eitem 3

3 Egwyddorion Amgylcheddol a Llywodraethu Amgylcheddol ar o6l

Brexit - sesiwn friffio breifat

(09.15-09.45)

Graham Rees, Dirprwy Gyfarwyddwr, Uned Ymadael a’r UE a’r Strategaeth,
Adran yr Amgylchedd a Materion Gwledig - Llywodraeth Cymru

Lori Frater, Pennaeth Polisi Amgylcheddol Strategol - Llywodraeth Cymru

4 Egwyddorion Amgylcheddol a Llywodraethu Amgylcheddol ar ol

Brexit - Sesiwn dystiolaeth 1

(09.45-11.00) (Tudalennau 1 - 44)
Yr Athro Richard Cowell, yr Ysgol Daearyddiaeth a Chynllunio, Prifysgol
Caerdydd

Dr Mary Dobbs, Cyfarwyddwr, Rhaglen Meistr yn y Gyfraith (MLaw), Ysgol y
Gyfraith - Prifysgol Queen's, Belfast

,Ff Cynulliad National
/’ Cenedlaethol Assembly for

Cymru Wales



5.1

5.2

5.3

Dr Ludivine Petetin, Darlithydd yn y Gyfraith, Ysgol y Gyfraith a
Gwleidyddiaeth - Prifysgol Caerdydd

Dr Victoria Jenkins, Gweithgor Cymdeithas Cyfraith Amgylcheddol y DU yng
Nghymru

Dogfennau atodol:

Briff Ymchwil

Papur - Yr Athro Cowell, Dr Dobbs, Dr Petetin (Saesneg yn unig)

Papur - Gweithgor Cymdeithas Cyfraith Amgylcheddol y DU yng Nghymru

(Saesneg yn unig)

Papurau i’w nodi
(11.00-11.05)
Gohebiaeth gan Gomisiynydd Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol Cymru at y Cadeirydd -
gwybodaeth ddilynol yn dilyn y cyfarfod ar 10 lonawr 2019

(Tudalennau 45 - 62)
Dogfennau atodol:
Gohebiaeth gan Gomisiynydd Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol Cymru - 31 Mai 2019

(Saesneg yn unig)

Gohebiaeth gan Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru aty
Cadeirydd - Egwyddorion Amgylcheddol a Llywodraethu Amgylcheddol yng
Nghymru

(Tudalennau 63 - 64)
Dogfennau atodol:
Gohebiaeth gan Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru - 3 Mehefin
2019

Gohebiaeth gan Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru at y Cadeirydd - Egwyddorion
Amgylcheddol a Llywodraethu Amgylcheddol

(Tudalennau 65 - 78)
Dogfennau atodol:
Gohebiaeth gan Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru - 4 Mehefin 2019



5.4 Gohebiaeth gan Gomisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru at y Cadeirydd -

Llywodraethu ac Egwyddorion Amgylcheddol

(Tudalennau 79 - 81)
Dogfennau atodol:
Gohebiaeth gan Gomisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol - 7 Mehefin 2019

(Saesneg yn unig)

Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42(vi) i benderfynu gwahardd y
cyhoedd o'r cyfarfod heddiw ar gyfer eitemau 7 ac 8

Sesiwn breifat (11.05-11.30)

7

Egwyddorion Amgylcheddol a Llywodraethu Amgylcheddol ar 6l
Brexit - Trafod y dystiolaeth a ddaeth i law o dan eitem 4

Cynnig ar gyfer Sioe Frenhinol Cymru
(Tudalennau 82 - 83)
Dogfennau atodol:

Papur Preifat



Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42 E |te m 4

Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru | National Assembly for Wales

Y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, Amgylchedd a Materion Gwledig | Climate Change,
Environment and Rural Affairs Committee

Ymchwiliad i lywodraethu ac egwyddorion amgylcheddol as 6l Brexit | Inquiry into
environmental principles and governance post-Brexit

Ymateb gan : Yr Athro Richard Cowell (Prifysgol Caerdydd), Dr Ludivine Petetin

(Prifysgol Caerdydd) a Dr Mary Dobbs (Prifysgol Queen’s, Belffast)

Evidence from : Professor Richard Cowell (Cardiff University), Dr Ludivine Petetin
(Cardiff University) and Dr Mary Dobbs (Queen’s University Belfast)

Bibliographic background

Richard Cowell, Ludivine Petetin and Mary Dobbs are academics with expertise in environmental governance
and multi-level governance. Ludivine and Mary are Law Lecturers and bring particular expertise on
environmental principles and governance. Richard has expertise on the mainstreaming of sustainability into
public policy. All three have undertaken extensive research on these subjects in the context of Brexit. All three
are associates of the Brexit & Environment network, which brings together academics analysing how Brexit
is affecting the UK and EU environments.

1.0 Overview

There is much in the Welsh Government’s (WG) consultation on Environmental Principles and Governance
in Wales Post European Union EXxit that is positive. The proposals for instituting missing environmental
principles in primary legislation, for granting the proposed new environmental body independence and the
attention to cross-UK collaboration are to be welcomed, and avoid some weaknesses of the proposals for
England. We would also support the WG’s intention to resolve environmental governance gaps created by
Brexit in an integrated way, fully connected to existing Welsh legislation on environment and sustainability.
However, this apparent ambition also creates complexities, and a series of specific issues are under-developed:
e Among the principles, there is no clear commitment to ‘high levels of environmental protection’, the
‘precautionary principle’, the ‘principle of integration’ and cross-border cooperation;
e On the governance arrangements, there are the difficulties of integration with existing bodies and
regulatory styles, a need for closer attention to reporting, and concerns about enforcement powers;
e On the case for consistent, cross-UK environmental governance arrangements, there are practical
challenges in marrying Welsh good intentions with what is happening in England, Northern Ireland and
Scotland.

The freedom of action in creating new arrangements may be constrained by international agreements,
especially the Backstop in the Withdrawal Agreement." This contains important obligations, including the
domestic incorporation of environmental principles and the presence of (an) independent enforcement
bod(y/ies)(Part 2 of Annex 4 of the Protocol on Ireland/Northern Ireland to the Withdrawal Agreement — Nov.
2018). The WG’s proposed incorporation of the core environmental principles (where it includes a high level
of protection, non-regression and the precautionary principle) within Welsh primary legislation will help,
although this will either need to be mirrored across the devolved administrations or undertaken on a UK-wide
basis. However, it is unclear that the proposed Welsh body would suffice and consideration should be given
to the commentary on DEFRA’s proposals for an Office for Environmental Protection.? Furthermore, the
Agreement would significantly affect the future application of environmental principles and the shape and
operation of any new structures.

Tudalen y pecyn 21


https://www.brexitenvironment.co.uk/

2.0 Principles

The Committee is seeking views on gaps in ... environmental principles post-Brexit in Wales ... whether the
Welsh Government’s analysis (within the consultation) correctly and comprehensively identifies the
deficiencies ... (and) ... The Welsh Government’s consultation proposals and questions regarding the
environmental principles.

2.1 The Welsh Government’s assessment and solution

It is our view that WG has conducted a robust assessment of gaps and deficiencies in the coverage of EU
environmental within its domestic legislation. We concur with them that rectification at source and the polluter
pays principles are missing. We also support the proposal that the missing principles be enshrined in primary
legislation: taking this step avoids weaknesses observed in DEFRA’s proposals for England.?

However, the precise manner in which these principles (and potentially others) are going to be integrated into
the legislation requires careful consideration. Having a third piece of legislation dealing with the environment
alongside the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales)Act 2015 (FGA) and the Environment (Wales) Act
2016 could be excessive, leading to actors approaching environmental protection from the perspectives of
different acts and their different ways of framing environmental protection and environmental principles. It
could thereby negate certainty and consistency and create loopholes. Instead, the opportunity should be taken
to incorporate a wide range of environmental principles and objectives within one single piece of primary
environmental legislation — within Wales and preferably across the UK as a whole.* For Wales for the time-
being, the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 could be amended accordingly to enable an enhanced level of
protection and a more holistic approach towards environmental protection.

Furthermore, lessons should be learnt from the responses to DEFRA’s proposals® and the principles should be
integrated in such a manner as to impose clear obligations to act in accordance with the range of environmental
objectives and principles wherever relevant. Thus, the duty cannot simply be one to ‘have regard to’, which is
a notably weak formulation enabling the objectives and principles to be effectively bypassed.® Potential
approaches could reflect those taken in the FGA whereby actions must be ‘in accordance with the sustainable
development principle’ (emphasis added).” However, they must also be broader in scope than the existing
Welsh legislation or regulatory gaps risk appearing. The obligations should be imposed upon all Welsh public
authorities and bodies undertaking actions on behalf of Wales (including WG, regulatory bodies and the courts)
thereby ensuring that the objectives and principles underpin all Welsh policy and law at all stages —reflecting
the current approach to EU environmental law.

2.2 Omissions
The Welsh Government’s proposals also have omissions.

1) A key principle missing from the relevant Acts and what is proposed is the precautionary principle.
Despite the claim that it is de facto included in the definition of ‘sustainable management of natural resources’,
this gives a weak status to a key international and EU principle. This should not be interpreted as Wales not
being precautionary in its approach. But expressly enshrining the precautionary principle as a principle driving
forward Welsh policies is paramount and ensures a precautionary approach irrespective of who the decision-
makers are in future.

2) Another absence is any explicit commitment to maintain a high level of environmental protection in
the development of future policies. Article 191 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, in

2
Tudalen y pecyn 22



setting out the principles that underpin EU environmental policy, provides that ‘Union policy on the
environment shall aim for a high level of protection taking into account the diversity of situations in the various
regions of the Union’. In the EU context, this overarching goal sets the framework within which the other
environmental principles are interpreted. This is very different from the non-regression principle. The latter
is about not decreasing the current level of protection/standards whilst the former is about fostering a spiral to
the top and placing an obligation on the legislator to increase environmental protection and relevant standards.
Para 1.5 of the WG’s consultation indicates that Brexit ‘provides an opportunity to develop a structure, which
supports not only a commitment to non-regression, but more fundamentally a commitment to enhancing the
environment to meet the challenges we face’ but the consultation document does not clarify whether such a
commitment is actually enshrined in Welsh legislation. Such a commitment should be made stronger by
maintaining this principle in Welsh environmental law and policy. To take it a step further, it would be highly
desirable if Wales would also incorporate a principle of environmental improvement. To note, these three
principles (high level of environmental protection, non-regression and environmental improvement) could act
as over-arching objectives, which would strengthen the approach further and should all be incorporated
expressly.

3) Incorporation of the Aarhus principles granting rights on individuals (and eNGOs) would be a worthwhile
endeavour, especially considering the significance yet weaknesses of the existing judicial review system, as
well as the loss of EU compliance mechanisms that currently work in tandem.

4) Other principles become of greater significance in a post-Brexit world — including ones addressing borders,
cooperation (including within the UK) and the allocation of responsibilities across territory.® The obligation
to avoid transboundary environmental damage, which is commonly recognised as a principle of
international environmental law® should also be recognised as an environmental principle. Similarly, principles
on cross-border cooperation, collaboration and participation should be encompassed, as for instance seen in
the Espoo Convention. These principles will be relevant to the internal borders within the UK — indeed, they
could be a useful driver for cross-UK collaboration on environmental governance (see below) — as well as with
the EU and beyond.

5) The principle of subsidiarity should remain relevant after EU exit. Subsidiarity is concerned with the
allocation of competences between different levels of government, from the local to the global. According to
the principle, decisions should, as far as possible, be made by the lowest level of government. However, it also
indicates that where circumstances indicate that coordinated decision-making or action would lead to greater
efficiencies, e.g. due to the potential for transboundary effects, then some degree of centralisation might be
appropriate.!® The principle would assist in addressing both internal Welsh decision-making and also
approaches to decision-making across the UK, through guiding when more localised or more centralised
approaches are appropriate.!' To play the role on a UK level it would need to be embodied within a UK
common framework, but it could at least assist within Wales for the time being.

6) The principle of integration should become a central pillar of future Welsh legislation. The integration
principle is essential to a holistic and effective system of environmental governance, rather than increasing the
potential for a silo-ed approach. This is present within the TFEU and ensures that all EU policy must integrate
considerations of a high level of protection of the environment. This would lead to the principles mentioned
above being fully integrated and underpinning the formulation of all (sectoral) law and policy at all stages
wherever relevant (not simply environmental law and policy) — as under EU law.

2.3 Integration with principles of SMNR

Tudalen y pecyn 23



In addition to the above, WG has proposed that the duty to pursue the sustainable management of natural
resources (SMNR) arising from the Environment Act be extended in its application, as this is deemed to
embody a number of EU environmental principles. In itself, there may be merits in extending SMNR principles
to include all existing and future Welsh public bodies, including the National Assembly for Wales (NAW) and
WG.

In the previous consultation, concerns were raised about potential conflicts between these existing principles
and the proposed principles if incorporated!? — there are indeed some challenges. However, firstly, it needs to
be borne in mind that legal principles, whilst binding, are malleable and do not demand specific outcomes
unlike rules. Secondly, it would need to be clear which were the overarching objectives (e.g. non-regression,
a high level of environmental protection, and environmental improvement) that all the principles were to be
interpreted in light of, thereby facilitating coherence. Placing environmental protection principles subordinate
to duties to carry out sustainable development, say, raises familiar concerns that environmental obligations
become weakened within an approach more concerned with balance.*?

Our understanding of the proposals is that WG is seeking to make these extensions in order to address the
environmental governance challenges of Brexit in a holistic fashion: not simply seeking to plug gaps with new
measures, but to think through how strategies for dealing with post-Brexit governance gaps might be integrated
with existing Welsh approaches as enshrined in the FGA, the Environment Act and the Planning (Wales) Act
2015. This in itself is laudable, not least because the consultation document seems to recognise that this process
of integration pushes two ways: adjusting ‘new’ measures to align with the Welsh context but also being
prepared to adjust existing Welsh arrangements to adopt the best features of EU approaches. However, the net
result is rather complex and, moreover some of the consultation questions are too reductionist for the issues at
hand. This is all more apparent with the second main topic of interest to the CCERA — the proposed governance
body.

3.0 A new environmental governance body?

The Committee is seeking views on gaps in environmental governance structures ...post-Brexit in Wales and
whether the Welsh Government’s analysis (within the consultation) correctly and comprehensively identifies
the deficiencies;, The Welsh Government’s consultation proposals and questions regarding the
....function/constitution/scope of the proposed governance body.

3.1 Overarching issues - integration

Creating an entity in and for Wales, to replace the salient environmental tasks previously conducted by EU
institutions — i.e. oversight and scrutiny, receiving complaints, enforcement — is very important. We support
WG’s ambitions in pursuing this task with a view to creating new institutions that are holistic in scope (in their
treatment of the environment) and integrated with existing Welsh machinery. This raises complex questions
with potentially far-reaching implications for that existing machinery. Thus, we support WG’s expressed
intentions to encourage a ‘wide conversation’.!* In its consultation, WG also seeks to direct respondents’
attention to the qualities (status, functions, powers) that any new environment body should have, rather than
any specific model. We offer specific responses to these qualities below, but we also believe that the way that
the issue has been reduced to a series of fairly narrow questions, framed as ‘deficiencies’ may have obscured
key issues.

One key point that makes considering new governance arrangements complex is that thinking through how it
fits with existing arrangements, and potential deficiencies, has multiple dimensions. The new proposals need
to address issues of scope (i.e. what issues, which aspects of the environment, what range of functions) need

4
Tudalen y pecyn 24



to be covered by any new or revised governance mechanisms and are there any gaps, overlaps or conflicts?
They also need to address the dimension of power that any governance mechanisms should have i.e. how is
goal-setting to be done and how is implementation and compliance to be driven? In the consultation, it looks
like WG is interested in both dimensions. Through gap analysis, they are seeking to assess how to replace
governance mechanisms pertaining especially to EU environmental legislation and how far existing bodies
might do the job (scope). But, in the name of integration and coherence, they are also interested in how far
EU-style governance mechanisms (for complaints, enforcement etc) could be instituted to apply across existing
Welsh environmental governance systems. We think these are the right questions, but it raises a number of
challenges.

1) Information asymmetry. Forming a view is made difficult by the fact there is reasonable research
evidence about the efficacy of EU-style environmental governance mechanisms (and their problems).
However, the innovative Welsh legislation on the environment and its associated governance mechanisms are
still new and there is little research as to how well it works.!> This makes it difficult to judge how far existing
mechanisms should be adjusted to acquire more EU-style qualities, or whether the implementation of EU
environmental legislation can be adequately addressed by embracing it within existing Welsh approaches.

2) Regulatory culture. A major cross-cutting challenge for the UK as a whole in seeking to resolve the
environmental governance gap created by the EU is how far UK legal norms, based on common law and an
emphasis on procedural compliance can evolve to give greater emphasis on substantive compliance, to hold
governments and other public bodies to account for the delivery of environmental goals, standards and targets.
Wales is perhaps slightly better placed in this regard than other parts of the UK, in that the FGA is already
making public bodies accountable for delivering a wider range of goals. However, many of the principles
within Welsh legislation are procedural in nature rather than substantive,'® making them more slippery objects
on which to hold people to account and drive implementation, and where goals exist they lack the precision
associated with EU legislation, which facilitate effective monitoring, oversight and enforcement. It would be
¢glib therefore to suggest that EU-style governance mechanisms for driving implementation could be simply
stretched to embrace Welsh legislation. Equally, the governance approaches of Welsh legislation (in terms of
power) often adopt a very different approach compared to EU environmental governance i.e. the processes
are designed to be more consensual and about encouragement, and the objectives are often expressed in less
‘hard-edged’ ways against which implementation can be assessed, being more concerned about balancing
economic, social and environmental concerns. Bringing former EU environmental legislation within existing
Welsh approaches might therefore amount to weakening them, compared to how they operate currently.

Arguably the challenges of institutional integration are the thorniest in respect of the Future Generations
Commissioner (FGC), in that the environmental issues addressed by EU legislation could be considered as
just a subset of its remit with respect to well-being (i.e. the FGC’s scope is wider), but the powers of the FGC
to drive implementation are arguably weaker than provided by EU institutions at present. If the FGC remains
separate from the proposed environment body there must be an expectation that the two will closely
collaborate. Such functions would promote holistic approaches, collaboration and joined up thinking when
formulating future environmental policies to achieve sustainable development.!” In the longer term, the small
size of Wales might raise questions about having separate ‘watchdogs’ for environmental protection and
sustainable development, but any consideration of merger would require informed discussion, including about
whether the performance of the FGA and Environment Acts should themselves be subject to the more robust
scrutiny, complaints and enforcement mechanisms characterised by EU environmental governance.

32 Specific concerns

Tudalen y pecyn 25



There are aspects of WG’s proposals that are very positive, notably the aim to make any new body accountable
to the NAW and to give independence over appointments and setting of budgets. However, we have a series
of more specific concerns about the proposal and the qualities that any new arrangements should have:

1) Reporting on the application of environmental laws. The consultation document provides
significant details on present environment and sustainability-related reporting arrangements required under
Welsh legislation, but it is not clear on how far these would fill the potential vacuum left by EU obligations in
terms of: (i) focus on the implementation of environmental legislation and the level of detail associated with
that, and (ii) arrangements for publication and accountability. It would be helpful if WG could present further
assessment of how far existing environment and sustainability-related reporting arrangements in Wales would
fill the potential vacuum left by EU obligations. We recommend that the legislation establishing the new body
should provide it with a statutory duty to report regularly on government progress towards achieving its
environmental policy goals. As a matter of transparency, each report should be made publically available. The
public should also receive regular, authoritative and independent reports on progress towards the government’s
environmental policy goals by the proposed body. There may also be merits in transposing current obligations
on actors or public bodies to report to the EU over to any new body. This would facilitate its reporting capacity
and provide the information to conduct closer investigations of particular implementation problems.

2) Integration with existing bodies. WG asks ‘what role should existing accountability bodies provide
in a new environmental governance structure for Wales?’ (Question 6).This consultation question is an
awkward way of structuring debate around the complex issues entailed and, as we have suggested above, the
issue of how existing organisational roles fit within any new environmental governance structure raises
dilemmas. While one can understand why WG warns respondents against advocating specific organisational
models, it is often only once one thinks about particular organisational forms that the tensions become clear.

Assuming that existing bodies retain environment-related parts of their role creates the risk of fragmented
treatment of environmental issues, with any new body addressing only those bits of environment governed by
EU legislation not caught in existing Welsh legislation. It also for instance assumes that extant Welsh
legislation like the FGA and Environment Act are the examples to follow in a post-Brexit situation, when they
were drafted in the context of EU membership i.e. without robust enforcement mechanisms in the event of
implementation failure on key environmental issues.

3) Scope. The WG is to be commended for pushing for an ‘all-encompassing scope’ for the new
governance arrangements with respect to the environment, and for embracing climate change (contra England).
The concept of ‘natural resources’ likely to underpin the ambit of any new body is broad but also explicitly
flexible (consultation document para 3.29). One can observe environmental issues that are not specifically
listed, though might be encompassed e.g. noise, light pollution, landscape. However, it is also important that
the new governance arrangements can engage with the strong environmental dimensions of agricultural and
food policy, human and environmental health and with planning.'® With the latter, there is scope to align
planning more firmly to the delivery of environmental goals, a step with evident support among many planning
practitioners,'? as is already underway with alignment to the FGA.

In line with the integration principle, the actions of all public bodies (including WG) should be overseen by

the proposed body when they are acting as competent authorities, that is when their decision-making functions
and actions impact on the environment (either directly or indirectly).

Tudalen y pecyn 26



4) Powers. Any new body should have the following powers:

a. Act in an independent advisory capacity.
It would highlight issues of its own choosing as part of its scrutiny and compliance functions, as well as
responding to advice requests and proposals for legislative change.

A matter of great concern is the gap in institutional support, capacity and evidence gathering created by leaving
the EU. Sharing information, knowledge and expertise was a key aspect of the EU, especially with bodies such
as the European Environmental Agency (EEA) or the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA). The lack of
participation in such entities could be felt when formulating new policies and legislation. We recommend that
Wales/the UK remain a member of the EEA to remedy to this issue, ensure evidence gathering and access to
a larger pool of scientific expertise in environmental matters. It would also save on the costs of having to
generate ‘national’ data that would simply replicate what is already available.

b. Able to oversee and scrutinise.

The new body should exercise scrutiny functions in order to identify weaknesses and potential improvements
within the present legislative framework, covering actions and potential actions across all public bodies, where
they pertain to environmental protection. Both formal and informal mechanisms should be created to
investigate concerns about government and other public bodies’ implementation of environmental law, and
hold them to account.

c. Investigating complaints from members of the public and guaranteeing citizens’ rights.

Mechanisms for individuals or organisations to make an official complaint and free of charge about alleged
failings in relation to environmental law and governance must be maintained. The fact that individuals can
write to their AM, the Assembly or the Public Services Ombudsman is not an adequate substitute. None
combine the expertise in environmental law, the independence and the powers of the European Commission.

Similarly to the Commission, the new body should have discretion to decide whether to accept individual
complaints. Where complaints are accepted the new body must have effective powers to investigate them, to
require competent authorities to co-operate with those investigations and to compel timely compliance where
failings are identified.

d. Enforcement actions.

Powers to refer a government and other public bodies to court for alleged failings in implementing
environmental law is vital. Again, it is clear that withdrawal from the EU will create a lacuna in this area.
Currently, in the UK no public authority has power to bring proceedings against government in relation to
environmental issues. Moreover, as noted above, there is a need to enable enforcement in the context of non-
achievement of targets and standards rather than just procedural compliance.*

Similarly, there is much concern that the loss of the powers to fine governments for non-compliance with
CJEU judgements represents the loss of a significant lever for driving enforcement. The power for courts to
impose fines on the government and other public bodies should be seriously considered. It is a positive feature
of WG’s consultation that they entertain alternative enforcement mechanisms such as ‘stop notice’ type actions
(where problems are urgent) and restorative justice. Fines collected could be utilised for environmental
benefits, i.e. fund projects that would enhance environmental protection.

e. Links to the environmental principles.

The proposed body should have oversight over all environmental obligations, both national and international.
If environmental principles are to have practical meaning, the new body should be able to call the government

to account for failing to meet all environmental obligations — including through failure to act adequately in
7
Tudalen y pecyn 27



accordance with the environmental principles. It should be borne in mind that principles by their nature guide
rather than typically mandating specific outcomes, thereby still leaving considerable discretion to the
government as to how they implement such principles.

- Relationship with judicial review.

The proposed body should have the power to intervene in judicial review applications concerning the
implementation and application of environmental law by competent authorities.

Furthermore, whilst judicial review (in conjunction with the Aarhus principles) by eNGOs in particular is an
important tool, despite the suggestions in DEFRA’s proposals, it is not an adequate substitute for the European
Commission’s current powers due its focus on process rather than merits, its high costs and short timeframe to
bring a case (UKELA, 2018, Jack and Petetin 2018).2! There is a risk that if the Commission’s role is lost and
not replaced by an effective domestic body, then the eNGOs would find themselves playing the supervisory
role by default — impacting negatively on the eNGOs’ other roles and environmental governance.

4.0 A UK joined approach

The Committee is seeking views on the value and practicality of a UK joined approach given the UK
Government’s Department of Environment Food and Rural Affairs’ (DEFRA) proposal that new governance

structures in England could exercise functions more widely across the UK.
4.1 The value of cross-UK mechanisms

There is much value in the new post-Brexit environmental governance arrangements for the UK operating on
a cross-UK basis, and it is very positive that WG’s consultation proposals recognise this. It has been
recommended by the NAWCCERA in its previous reports, and we have argued for it previously as have other
organisations.?” Creating machinery for environmental governance that operates across the UK would have
benefits for:

e Dealing with cross-UK environmental issues in a coherent way, whether that be environmental issues that
straddle borders between the UK’s constituent nations; issues that have an international dimension, such
as complying with international conventions; or issues linked to trade.

e The power and efficacy of the governance arrangements themselves, because cross-UK mechanisms
would be independent from any one government or legislature, and provide a framework in which
constituent nations could hold eachother to account for delivery.

e It would also be fit for the new challenges of Brexit, such as offering scrutiny and oversight for Common
Frameworks and dealing with risks such as UK nations — outwith the legislative frameworks of the EU -
backsliding on environmental protections to attract jobs.

e One can envisage wider staffing and streamlining benefits, as well as enhanced scope for cross-UK
learning. UK-level ring-fencing of funding would also reduce competition for resources with other
priorities.

Creating effective cross-UK environmental governance arrangements is also required by the EU Withdrawal
Agreement and the Irish backstop provisions.

4.2 Practical issues

In considering what those cross-national arrangements could be, we do not consider that the main contender
should be that the new arrangements being proposed by DEFRA for England could exercise functions across
the UK. This is under consideration for Northern Ireland, but as a force majeure solution given the ongoing
collapse of devolved government and with significant concerns raised even so0.?* Doing the same for Wales

8
Tudalen y pecyn 28


https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fassets.publishing.service.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fuploads%2Fsystem%2Fuploads%2Fattachment_data%2Ffile%2F766849%2Fdraft-environment-bill-governance-principles.pdf&data=01%7C01%7CCowellRJ%40cardiff.ac.uk%7C5c83f208d1b04774e18708d6be771355%7Cbdb74b3095684856bdbf06759778fcbc%7C1&sdata=AaRhnBqOtpOSzRMiqPrXESsYUWJtGo%2BldPm5nWKMOSs%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fassets.publishing.service.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fuploads%2Fsystem%2Fuploads%2Fattachment_data%2Ffile%2F766849%2Fdraft-environment-bill-governance-principles.pdf&data=01%7C01%7CCowellRJ%40cardiff.ac.uk%7C5c83f208d1b04774e18708d6be771355%7Cbdb74b3095684856bdbf06759778fcbc%7C1&sdata=AaRhnBqOtpOSzRMiqPrXESsYUWJtGo%2BldPm5nWKMOSs%3D&reserved=0

would amount to a significant reverse of devolution — the environment being a highly devolved issue — and
proposals emanating from and designed for an England/Westminster setting would fit poorly with the
democratic and legislative arrangements that have developed in Wales.

If cross-UK arrangements are to emerge, then they would need to be designed collaboratively in a way that
enables them to embrace shared concerns about environmental principles, standards and processes of
enforcement, without unduly constraining the ability of the devolved governments to pursue approaches to
environmental protection appropriate to local circumstances.”* Subsidiarity and proportionality are
important here. However, pursuing cross-UK environmental governance arrangements also raises broader
issues. Designing effective, cross-UK environmental governance issues raises potential trade-offs between
accountability (e.g. to Wales) and environmental efficacy (for those aspects served by a cross-UK approach),
in that it may entail some pooling of sovereignty on environmental issues across the UK.

Nevertheless, there is cross-UK recognition of the merits of cross-UK environmental governance
arrangements, caveated by concerns for the devolution settlement and the process by which shared
arrangements are created.?> The problems are practical, and fall into two categories.

1) Time

The need to avoid environmental governance gaps created by Brexit in the short term has driven DEFRA to
act; the devolved governments, for various reasons, have moved more slowly. As a result, the timeframes at
which London, Edinburgh and Cardiff are moving are mismatched, and this — and the ticking of the Brexit
clock — makes effective collaboration difficult. The time dimension is especially important given that thinking
carefully about shared UK arrangements for environmental governance requires more time and bandwidth than
is likely to be available.

A key question for cross-UK collaboration is how to manage short-term uncertainties in such a way that better,
more integrated, cross-UK approaches are not ‘locked out’ in future. Professor Colin Reid at Dundee
University makes useful suggestions:*°
o Any new arrangement should not needlessly impede collaboration, e.g. they should enable the sharing of
data between bodies exercising similar functions in other parts of the UK.
o The different administrations should agree to review the position in a few years’ time to see if there is
scope for improvement, such as streamlining or closer integration. It is a widely shared view that the intra-
UK governance architecture will need reinforcement, post-Brexit, to address various new demands placed
upon it;?” the scope for more collaborative environmental governance arrangements, with cross-UK reach,
may co-evolve with these wider developments.

2) Substance

The second problem is envisaging the substantive form of any shared arrangements, given the time frame and
the different national circumstances and institutional design principles that need to be balanced. One might
envisage this in terms of creating some portmanteau cross-UK arrangements in which the various bodies
serving the UK nations would sit, and then within that portmanteau there being layers of collaboration which
could be built up over time. Perhaps the first ‘layer’ for cross-UK collaborative governance could focus on
monitoring and reporting protocols and external compliance, and be performed by an institution similar to the
JNCC. A second layer might apply the format of the Climate Change Commission — its monitoring, scrutiny
and reporting function - for other dimensions of environment on a cross-UK basis.

Importantly, the ability of EU institutions to drive environmental policy implementation across the EU is built
on principles and legislation that are themselves shared across the Member States. Similarly, the scope for

9
Tudalen y pecyn 29



‘deep’ cross-UK collaboration in environmental governance would depend on how far environmental
legislation across the UK exhibits common features. WG is right in its consultation to raise the prospect of
instituting a set of shared environmental principles for the UK as a whole. Doing this would facilitate cross-
UK governance of environmental issues. Effective cross-UK action would also depend on the extent to which
the constituent UK governments support Common Frameworks in the environmental field.?®

! E.g. https://www.parliament.scot/S5_Environment/Meeting%20Papers/ECCLR 2018.04.30 Meeting_papers_(public).pdf

.dated 301 April — p.41 (aka 13); also C. Reid, submission to the Scottish Government Consultation (191" May 2019).

2E.g. M. Lee, ‘The New Office for Environmental Protection: Scrutinising and Enforcing Environmental Law after Brexit’, 18 January
2019, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract _id=3312296; and Environmental Audit Committee, Report on the Scrutiny of
the Draft Environment (Principles and Governance) Bill, 25 April 2019, https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-
a-z/commons-select/environmental-audit-committee/news-parliament-2017/draft-environment-bill-report-publication-17-19/.

3 E.g. M. Lee and E. Scotford, ‘Environmental Principles After Brexit: The Draft Environment (Principles and Governance) Bill’, 30
January 2019, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract id=3322341; M. Dobbs, ‘Environmental Principles in the
Environment Bill’, 30t January 2019, https://www.brexitenvironment.co.uk/2019/01/30/environmental-principles-environment-bill/;
and M. Dobbs and L. Petetin, Written Evidence to the EFRA Scrutiny of the draft Environment (Governance and Principles) Bill,
(January 2019) http:/data.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/committeeevidence.svc/evidencedocument/environment-food-and-rural-
affairs-committee/prelegislative-scrutiny-of-the-draft-environment-principles-and-governance-bill/written/95916.html.

4E.g. C. Brennan, M. Dobbs & V. Gravey, ‘Out of the Frying Pan, Intro the Fire? Environmental Governance Vulnerabilities in Post-
Brexit Northern Ireland’, (2019) Environmental Law Review (forthcoming), pre-proof version available at:
https://eprint.ncl.ac.uk/file_store/production/256535/D066ED55-7546-446C-875D-7A4590826805.pdf.

5 E.g. ibid; Environmental Audit Committee, Report on the Scrutiny of the Draft Environment (Principles and Governance) Bill, 25
April 2019, https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/environmental-audit-committee/news-
parliament-2017/draft-environment-bill-report-publication-17-19/ and Dobbs & Petetin, op cit. n3.

¢ E.g. Environmental Audit Committee, The Government’s 25 Year Plan for the Environment, HC 803, 24 July 2018,
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmenvaud/803/803.pdf; Select Committee on the Natural Environment and
Rural Communities Act 2006, The countryside at a crossroads: Is the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 still fit
for purpose?, HL 99, 22 March 2018, https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld201719/ldselect/ldnerc/99/99.pdf; and
http://data.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/committeeevidence.svc/evidencedocument/environmental-audit-committee/environmental -
principles-and-governance-consultation/oral/85180.html.

Similarly, express, mandatory obligations are imposed within the Environment Act (Wales) 2016.

8 See a range of proposed objectives and principles in Brennan, Dobbs & Gravey, op cit. n4.

9 R. Bratspies and R. Miller (eds), Transboundary Harm in International Law: Lessons from the Trail Smelter Arbitration, (CUP,
2006); and B. Jack and L. Petetin, Environmental principles and governance after EU exit,(2018) available at:
http://orca.cf.ac.uk/114856/.

10 M. Dobbs, ‘Attaining Subsidiarity Based Multilevel Governance of Genetically Modifies Cultivation?” (2016) 28(2) Journal of
Environmental Law 245-273. Author accepted version available at:
https://pure.qub.ac.uk/portal/files/17421201/Dobbs_Attaining SBMLG_of GM_Cultivation accepted version.pdf. See also, L.
Petetin, ‘Managing Novel Food Technologies and Member States’ Interests: Shifting more Powers towards the Member States?’ in M.
Varju (eds), Between Compliance and Particularism: Member State Interests and European Union Law (Springer, 2019) 233-253.

' A. Engel and L. Petetin, ‘International Obligations and Devolved Powers — Ploughing through Competences and GM Crops’, (2018)
20 (1) Environmental Law Review, 16 http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1461452918759639.

12 L. Walker and K. Orford, Environmental goverance post-Brexit: closing the ‘governance gap’, 27 June 2018,
https://seneddresearch.blog/2018/06/27/environmental-governance-post-brexit-closing-the-governance-gap/; V. Jenkins, Evidence to
the CCERA on  FEuropean Union  Environmental — Governance  and  Principles, 10" May 2018,
http://senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s74961/Evidence%20paper?%20from%20Dr%20Victoria%20Jenkins.pdf

13'V. Jenkins, ‘Sustainable Management of Natural Resources: lessons from Wales’, (2018) 30:3 Journal of Environmental Law, 399-
423, https://academic.oup.com/jel/article-abstract/30/3/399/5032465.

14WG, Consultation on Environmental Principles and Governance in Wales Post European Union Exit, 18™ March 2019, WG35189,
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2019-03/eu-exit-consultation-document.pdf, section 3.24, p.27.

13 Jenkins, op cit. n13.

16 See the table in the consultation document, page 17.

17L. Petetin and M. Dobbs, ‘Collaborating for Agricultural Sustainability’, 13 June 2018, http://blogs.cardiff.ac.uk/environmental-
justice-research-unit/2018/06/13/collaborating-agricultural-sustainability/.

18 L. Petetin, M. Dobbs and V. Gravey, Written Evidence to WG ‘Brexit and Our Land’ Consultation, October 2018, available
https://pure.qub.ac.uk/portal/en/publications/written-evidence-submitted-to-the-welsh-government-on-brexit-and-our-land-
consultation(cffc26d7-37bf-4023-be22-59de5e7a7635).html.

19 RTPI, ‘Environmental Planning After Brexit’, January 2019,
https://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/3186871/environmental_planning_after brexit.pdf.

20 Reference HoC EAC Report para 1.22.

2! Brennan, Dobbs and Gravey, op cit. n4.

10
Tudalen y pecyn 30


https://www.parliament.scot/S5_Environment/Meeting%20Papers/ECCLR_2018.04.30_Meeting_papers_(public).pdf
https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3312296
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/environmental-audit-committee/news-parliament-2017/draft-environment-bill-report-publication-17-19/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/environmental-audit-committee/news-parliament-2017/draft-environment-bill-report-publication-17-19/
https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3322341
https://www.brexitenvironment.co.uk/2019/01/30/environmental-principles-environment-bill/
http://data.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/committeeevidence.svc/evidencedocument/environment-food-and-rural-affairs-committee/prelegislative-scrutiny-of-the-draft-environment-principles-and-governance-bill/written/95916.html
http://data.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/committeeevidence.svc/evidencedocument/environment-food-and-rural-affairs-committee/prelegislative-scrutiny-of-the-draft-environment-principles-and-governance-bill/written/95916.html
https://eprint.ncl.ac.uk/file_store/production/256535/D066ED55-7546-446C-875D-7A4590826805.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/environmental-audit-committee/news-parliament-2017/draft-environment-bill-report-publication-17-19/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/environmental-audit-committee/news-parliament-2017/draft-environment-bill-report-publication-17-19/
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmenvaud/803/803.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld201719/ldselect/ldnerc/99/99.pdf
http://orca.cf.ac.uk/114856/
https://pure.qub.ac.uk/portal/files/17421201/Dobbs_Attaining_SBMLG_of_GM_Cultivation_accepted_version.pdf
http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1461452918759639
https://seneddresearch.blog/2018/06/27/environmental-governance-post-brexit-closing-the-governance-gap/
http://senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s74961/Evidence%20paper%20from%20Dr%20Victoria%20Jenkins.pdf
https://academic.oup.com/jel/article-abstract/30/3/399/5032465
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2019-03/eu-exit-consultation-document.pdf
http://blogs.cardiff.ac.uk/environmental-justice-research-unit/2018/06/13/collaborating-agricultural-sustainability/
http://blogs.cardiff.ac.uk/environmental-justice-research-unit/2018/06/13/collaborating-agricultural-sustainability/
https://pure.qub.ac.uk/portal/en/publications/written-evidence-submitted-to-the-welsh-government-on-brexit-and-our-land-consultation(cffc26d7-37bf-4023-be22-59de5e7a7635).html
https://pure.qub.ac.uk/portal/en/publications/written-evidence-submitted-to-the-welsh-government-on-brexit-and-our-land-consultation(cffc26d7-37bf-4023-be22-59de5e7a7635).html
https://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/3186871/environmental_planning_after_brexit.pdf

22 E.g., Petetin and Dobbs, op cit. n3. For a more exhaustive account of the benefits, see the report by the Broadway Initiative
https://www.iema.net/assets/newbuild/Broadway/Governing%20the%20environment%20-
%20is%20there%20a%20case%20for%20UK %20nations%20sharing%20architecture.pdf

2V, Gravey and M. Dobbs, Supplementary evidence to the EFRA Scrutiny of the draft Environment (Governance and Principles) Bill,
(March 2019)http://data.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/committeeevidence.svc/evidencedocument/environment-food-and-rural-
affairs-committee/prelegislative-scrutiny-of-the-draft-environment-principles-and-governance-bill/written/98726.html.

24Brennan, Dobbs and Gravey, op cit. n4. section 4.1; and Dobbs, op cit. n10.

3 E.g.  Explanatory Notes to the Draft Environment (Principles and  Governance  Bill), p.40,
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/766849/draft-environment-bill-
governance-principles.pdf; Welsh Government consultation, page 35; Interim Scottish Government response to the 4™ Report on
Common Frameworks, 25 April 2019, https://www.parliament.scot/S5_Finance/General%20Documents/scot_gov_response.pdf; and
Cabinet Office, The European Union (Wthdrawal) Act and Common Frameworks, 2018
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/788764/CCS207 EUWithdrawalA
ctAndCommonFrameworks.pdf.

26Reid, op cit. nl. These have been supported by the House of Commons Environment, Food and Rural Affairs Select Committee in
its Pre-legislative scrutiny of the Draft Environment (Principles and Governance) Bill (2017-19 HC 1893, para.139).

27 For example, Welsh Government Brexit and Devolution — Securing Wales’ Future; and C., Burns, N. Carter, R. Cowell, P. Eckersley,
F. Farstad, V. Gravey, A. Jordan, B. Moore, and C. Reid, (2018) Environmental policy in a devolved United Kingdom: Challenges and
opportunities after Brexit, https://www.brexitenvironment.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/BrexitEnvUKReport.pdf.

28 For further on common frameworks see for instance, V. Gravey, Evidence to the CCERA on Common Frameworks on Agriculture
and  Environment, 2018, http://senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s75638/UK %2001%20Dr%20Viviane%20Gravey%020-
%20Queens%20University%20Belfast.pdf; or Brennan, Dobbs and Gravey, op cit. n4, section 4.1.

11
Tudalen y pecyn 31


https://www.iema.net/assets/newbuild/Broadway/Governing%20the%20environment%20-%20is%20there%20a%20case%20for%20UK%20nations%20sharing%20architecture.pdf
https://www.iema.net/assets/newbuild/Broadway/Governing%20the%20environment%20-%20is%20there%20a%20case%20for%20UK%20nations%20sharing%20architecture.pdf
http://data.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/committeeevidence.svc/evidencedocument/environment-food-and-rural-affairs-committee/prelegislative-scrutiny-of-the-draft-environment-principles-and-governance-bill/written/98726.html
http://data.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/committeeevidence.svc/evidencedocument/environment-food-and-rural-affairs-committee/prelegislative-scrutiny-of-the-draft-environment-principles-and-governance-bill/written/98726.html
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/766849/draft-environment-bill-governance-principles.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/766849/draft-environment-bill-governance-principles.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_Finance/General%20Documents/scot_gov_response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/788764/CCS207_EUWithdrawalActAndCommonFrameworks.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/788764/CCS207_EUWithdrawalActAndCommonFrameworks.pdf
http://senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s75638/UK%2001%20Dr%20Viviane%20Gravey%20-%20Queens%20University%20Belfast.pdf
http://senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s75638/UK%2001%20Dr%20Viviane%20Gravey%20-%20Queens%20University%20Belfast.pdf

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru | National Assembly for Wales

Y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, Amgylchedd a Materion Gwledig | Climate Change,
Environment and Rural Affairs Committee

Ymchwiliad i lywodraethu ac egwyddorion amgylcheddol as 6l Brexit | Inquiry into
environmental principles and governance post-Brexit

Ymateb gan : Dr Victoria Jenkins, Gweithgor Cymdeithas Cyfraith Amgylcheddol y
DU yng Nghymru

Evidence from : Dr Victoria Jenkins, UK Environmental Law Association Wales
Working Party

The UK Environmental Law Association aims to make better law for the environment and
to improve understanding and awareness of environmental law. UKELA’s members are
involved in the practice, study or formulation of Environmental Law in the UK and the
European Union. It attracts both lawyers and non-lawyers and has a broad membership

from the private and public sectors.

UKELA prepares advice to government with the help of its specialist working parties,
covering a range of environmental law topics. This response has been prepared by
UKELA’s Wales Working Party (UKELA WWP), following a consultation event with the
wider membership in Wales and on the request of and in discussion with the Brexit Task

Force.

UKELA WWP makes the following comments on the proposals.

Overview

1. UKELA WWP welcomes the consultation paper published by the Welsh
Government in March 2019 entitled: Environmental Principles and Governance in
Wales Post European Union Exit (EPGW Consultation). UKELA regards the matters
discussed as being critical to UK environmental law, including EU derived law, post-
Brexit. It is crucial to be clear at the earliest possible stage how environmental law
and governance fits and supports the Welsh Government’s long-term aspirations for

environmental protection.

UK Environmental Law Association: better law for the environment

Registered charity 299498, company limited by guarantee in England 2133283
Registered office: One Glass Wharf, Bristol, BS2 0ZX www.ukela.org

President: Rt Hon Lord Carnwath CVO of Notting Hill

Tudalen y pecyn 32



2. UKELA WWP welcomes Welsh Government’s recognition that there will be
governance gaps in environmental protection on EU exit and its approach in
considering in broad terms what this might mean for environmental governance in
Wales going forward. It is appropriate to start this process by asking for comment
on the key issues around environmental principles and accountability before making
progress on the design of any new arrangements that might result from this.
Nevertheless, this means it will be prudent to also consult on proposals regarding

the more concrete organisational structures that subsequently emerge.

ENVIRONMENTAL PRINCIPLES

1: Do you agree the following principles should be included within legislation for

Wales? — Rectification at source; and Polluter pays

2: Do you think there are other principles, which may also need to be included?

3. UKELA WWP believe that all four EU environmental principles currently referred to
in Article 191 Treaty on Functioning of the European Union (TFEU) should be

supported within legislation in Wales following EU exit.

4. We note that Wales already has a number of principles contained in the Well-Being
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and Environment (Wales) Act 2016 and we
agree that we would wish to avoid any overlap. However, the principles contained in
these Acts are included in support of a well-being agenda across government that
can be clearly distinguished from the specific needs of environmental protection;
and, in support of the operationalisation or Sustainable Management of Natural
Resources (SMNR).

5. We also disagree that these Acts sufficiently address the precautionary principle. In

particular, the precautionary principle cannot be equated with the principle that it is
UK Environmental Law Association: better law for the environment

Registered charity 299498, company limited by guarantee in England 2133283
Registered office: One Glass Wharf, Bristol, BS2 0ZX www.ukela.org

President: Rt Hon Lord Carnwath CVO of Notting Hill

Tudalen y pecyn 33



important to “take account of all relevant evidence and gather evidence in respect of
uncertainties” (s4 Environment (Wales) Act 2016). IT is also significant that this only
applies at present to the Welsh Ministers and NRW, but perhaps most importantly it

is arguably not equivalent to the current interpretation of the precautionary principle

in the EU.

6. The principle of a high level of environmental protection has also been
significant in EU environmental law. It may be prudent to consider whether this
should be included, if not as a principle within Welsh legislation then as an
important objective. One criticism of the draft Environment (Principles and
Governance) Bill proposed by the UK government has been that although it
identified key environmental principles it appeared to discard the rest of Article
191 of the Treaty for European Union. This states -

Union policy on the environment shall contribute to pursuit of the following

objectives:

- preserving, protecting and improving the quality of the environment,
- protecting human health,

- prudent and rational utilisation of natural resources,

- promoting measures at international level to deal with regional or worldwide

environmental problems, and in particular combating climate change.

Union policy on the environment shall aim at a high level of protection taking
into account the diversity of situations in the various regions of the Union. It
shall be based on the precautionary principle and on the principles that
preventive action should be taken, that environmental damage should as a

priority be rectified at source and that the polluter should pay.

UK Environmental Law Association: better law for the environment

Registered charity 299498, company limited by guarantee in England 2133283
Registered office: One Glass Wharf, Bristol, BS2 0ZX www.ukela.org

President: Rt Hon Lord Carnwath CVO of Notting Hill

Tudalen y pecyn 34



3: Do you agree the duty to pursue sustainable management of natural resources

and the application of the SMNR principles should be extended?

4: On which Welsh public bodies, within devolved competence, do you consider a

duty to pursue SMNR should apply?

7. UKELA WWP supports the extension of these principles to all public bodies in
Wales ‘so far as they are relevant to the discharge of their functions’. A legislative
provision to this effect would ensure that these principles are considered in the work
of these bodies wherever relevant without creating a duty for them to pursue them

exclusively.

ACCOUNTABILITY

5: Do you agree with the gaps identified, or do you consider there are other gaps,

which need to be considered?
8. The UKELA WWP agrees that there will be governance gaps relating to:
« independent accountability;
e asimple and inexpensive mechanism to raise complaints; and
« enforcement mechanisms.

9. Specifically, we see gaps arising in the following respects:

e standards of reporting data and implementation information to the Commission.

e enforcement by the Commission, and the CJEU, including sanctions for persistent
breach of environmental laws. There will no longer be a means of bringing
government departments and public bodies to account and challenging non-

compliance with environmental laws. This cannot be achieved by any of the bodies

UK Environmental Law Association: better law for the environment

Registered charity 299498, company limited by guarantee in England 2133283
Registered office: One Glass Wharf, Bristol, BS2 0ZX www.ukela.org

President: Rt Hon Lord Carnwath CVO of Notting Hill

Tudalen y pecyn 35



currently operating in Wales nor by the National Assembly.

e The legal requirement on government to ensure that penalties for breaches are
“effective, proportionate and dissuasive”.
(see e.g. Water, Waste, Air Quality Framework Directives, REACH etc)

e Right of individuals to activate enforcement of environmental laws, at no cost,
through complaints to Commission.

e Uncontentious, ‘even’ application of EU derived environmental laws and

environmental principles throughout the UK.

6: What role should existing accountability bodies provide in a new environmental

governance structure for Wales?

10. UKELA WWP considers that this question cannot be answered without establishing
what the new approach to environmental governance will be. However, we also
note that there are already a number of Commissioner’s operating in Wales, none
of which are suitable to take on this role including the Future Generations

Commissioner.

11.We would not support this role being taken on by the Future Generations
Commissioner (FGC) because this would result in the protection of the environment
being subsumed into the wider role of the FGC. Nor does the FGC currently have

the independence that we would like to see for the new body.

12.To establish any body that is capable of bringing government departments and
public bodies to account absolutely requires a body with a strong measure of
independence from the executive, and this can be done either through its
relationship with the national Parliament (National Assembly for Wales) or through
establishing it as part of the existing audit body. Therefore, we consider that the
Commissioner for the Environment and Sustainable Development in Canada might

be a possible model.

UK Environmental Law Association: better law for the environment

Registered charity 299498, company limited by guarantee in England 2133283
Registered office: One Glass Wharf, Bristol, BS2 0ZX www.ukela.org

President: Rt Hon Lord Carnwath CVO of Notting Hill

Tudalen y pecyn 36



7: Is the outlined role and objective appropriate for a body responsible for

overseeing the implementation of environmental law in Wales?

13.UKELA WWP agrees that the role of the new body should not be confined to
advocacy but involve scrutiny of the actions of Welsh Government regarding the
implementation of environmental law. This will effectively extend to ensuring

holding Welsh Government to account for the work of NRW.

14.1t should be noted that ensuring legislation is developed in line with the principles in
Welsh legislation is quite different to overseeing implementation and delivery on the
objectives of environmental law. If this body is going to be involved in the
development of environmental law in Wales it will need to have a statutory

obligation to keep abreast of developments in science and law around the world,
including the EU.

15. Careful consideration needs to be given to the prudence of providing the new
environmental body with both a role in advocacy and legislative development with

scrutiny of the implementation of environmental law in Wales.

16.1t is especially important that the new body can receive and will respond to
complaints from citizens, but it is also important that it should be able to take action

of its own volition as the EU Commission currently does.

8: Which policy areas should be included within the scope of new governance
arrangements?

17.We agree that safeguarding Wales’s natural resources should be the overall

objective of the new body.

UK Environmental Law Association: better law for the environment

Registered charity 299498, company limited by guarantee in England 2133283
Registered office: One Glass Wharf, Bristol, BS2 0ZX www.ukela.org

President: Rt Hon Lord Carnwath CVO of Notting Hill

Tudalen y pecyn 37



18.The remit of the new body should be all encompassing and extend to all policy
areas that interact with the environment. This would mirror the current approach of
the EU Commission that considers environmental effects across all areas of

competence.
9: Do you consider the proposed list of bodies to be appropriate?

10: Do you consider there are other Welsh bodies, which should also fall within the
remit of an oversight body?

19.1t is our view that the environmental principles and the law applying these should
apply to all public bodies and it follows, therefore, that accountability to the new
environment body should also be extended in this way. Doing less than this is not
full implementation of the acquis communautaire and is inconsistent with a principle
of non-regression in environmental protection after EU exit. Where responsibility for
the environment has been devolved, as in Wales, responsibility for ensuring non-
regression will be a responsibility for the Welsh Government, not just the UK

government.
11: What should be the status, form and constitution of an oversight body?

20.The new environmental body should have the highest level of independence and
strong connections with the Assembly. It should not be appointed by Welsh
Government. Appointment might involve an Assembly Committee perhaps
equivalent to the Environmental Audit Committee in Parliament. We note the Chair
of Natural England is scrutinised by the Select Committee and we might do
something similar in Wales but provide the Assembly with greater powers of

scrutiny.

UK Environmental Law Association: better law for the environment

Registered charity 299498, company limited by guarantee in England 2133283
Registered office: One Glass Wharf, Bristol, BS2 0ZX www.ukela.org

President: Rt Hon Lord Carnwath CVO of Notting Hill

Tudalen y pecyn 38



21.The budget of the new body should be fixed in legislation. Although there will clearly
need to be the possibility of review budget cuts should be subject to careful

monitoring.
12: Should an oversight body be able to act in an advisory capacity?

22.The role of this body in providing advice to government needs careful thought. It
should not duplicate, or appear to duplicate, the work of NRW or that of the Future

Generations Commissioner.

23.There is a significant difference between public bodies being able to request advice
from the body (or indeed it being able to proffer advice) and the body providing

advice as part of its scrutiny and compliance functions.

24.As stated above, it is also important to consider the prudence of providing this body
with both a role in advocacy and legislative development with scrutiny of the

implementation of environmental law in Wales.

13: Should an oversight body be able to scrutinise implementation of environmental

legislation?

14: What should be the extent of this function?

25. Scrutiny can involve monitoring and reporting that includes data collection. It is
important to recognise that environmental data collection can also feed into the
development of environmental law and be important to environmental management.
The different objectives of data collection will lead to very different approaches to

the nature and extent of that process.

26.NRW function in data collection is to produce a State of Natural Resources Report

that exists them in their role in the management of those resources and feeds into
UK Environmental Law Association: better law for the environment

Registered charity 299498, company limited by guarantee in England 2133283
Registered office: One Glass Wharf, Bristol, BS2 0ZX www.ukela.org

President: Rt Hon Lord Carnwath CVO of Notting Hill

Tudalen y pecyn 39



the development of the National Natural Resources Policy that provides strategic
direction for SMNR in Wales.

27.Data collection is also an essential element of the process of monitoring and
reporting to the EU Commission on the implementation of environmental legislation.
This function is quite different to that provided by the State of Natural Resources
Report.

28.The National Assembly for Wales has created a fairly strong system of scrutiny
through its Committee system. Nevertheless, the inquiries tend to be general and
thematic. The approach of the National Assembly for Wales reflects the fact that its

role is to provide general oversight as a non-expert body.

29.The new body needs to be able to scrutinise, in an expert way (that expertise
including knowledge and understanding of both the science and policy, legislation
implementation context), the way in which specific pieces of legislation or targets

are being met. An example would be air pollution targets.

15: What powers should a body have in order to investigate complaints from

members of the public about the alleged failure to implement environmental law?

30.UKELA WWP believes that it is essential that citizens should be able to make a
complaint to the new environmental body and that this route of complaint should be

both simple in its operation and free of charge.

31.However, we also recognise that will be important that the environment body has
the power to dismiss vexatious claims and discretion to decide on and prioritise
appropriate responses to citizen’s complaints. Nevertheless, it is vital that
procedures are clearly transparent. Citizen’s complaints must also always be

subject to some form of response if the new body is to gain legitimacy.

UK Environmental Law Association: better law for the environment

Registered charity 299498, company limited by guarantee in England 2133283
Registered office: One Glass Wharf, Bristol, BS2 0ZX www.ukela.org

President: Rt Hon Lord Carnwath CVO of Notting Hill

Tudalen y pecyn 40



32.The idea of providing recommendations at this stage seems odd. Either the
environment body will decide not to take up the complaint (in which case the
individual will be notified of this) or the environment body will decide to take up the
complaint and the informal process of consultation with the public body involved will

begin.

33.The investigatory powers of this body must be clearly underlined to its purposes to
ensure that there is no overlap with other bodies such as the Future Generations
Commissioner and the Public Services Ombudsman. The introduction of a Citizens

Complaints portal or some such device might be utilised to put this into good effect.

16: What informal and formal methods of enforcement do you consider an oversight

body should operate in order to delivery on its role and objectives?

34. A system of informal communication followed should be adopted to replicate the
current arrangements adopted by the EU, but it is vital in ensuring that recourse to

the courts remains an avenue of last resort.

17: What enforcement actions do you consider need to be available?

35.UKELA WWP believes that a mechanism for referral of cases investigated by the
new environmental body to the courts is essential. We do not consider judicial
review to be sufficient in itself in this context. In particular, the court should be able
to review government decisions on their merits. Therefore, UKELA WWP advocates
the use of court mechanism such as a tribunal as the preferred route of challenge
for the new environment body, with access to judicial review available as a last

resort.

36.We note that at present the General Regulatory Chamber of the First Tier Tribunal
deals with environment cases. This is an England and Wales body. There may be

merit in continuing to refer cases to this body where those involved are currently

UK Environmental Law Association: better law for the environment

Registered charity 299498, company limited by guarantee in England 2133283
Registered office: One Glass Wharf, Bristol, BS2 0ZX www.ukela.org

President: Rt Hon Lord Carnwath CVO of Notting Hill

Tudalen y pecyn 41



developing expertise in relation to such cases.

37.The tribunal mechanism is preferred because the approach is more investigatory
and focused on providing solutions than simply focusing on procedural issues as is

usually the case in judicial review.

38.Whatever judicial enforcement mechanism is decided upon considerable thought
must be given to issues of access to justice. The problems that judicial review
presents in environmental cases are well documented and the need to comply with

the Aarhus Convention is paramount.

39. Timely resolution of cases will also be an important consideration and the use of

financial sanctions may also be prudent.

Working across the UK

18: Would there be advantages in have a shared core set of common environmental

principles?

40. Safeguarding natural resources is an objective that should be of importance to all
four nations of the UK and, crucially, cannot be achieved, especially on the island of

Great Britain, without full co-operation.

41.The core principles of EU environmental law have created a shared vision of the
way forward for environmental protection for many years now and this approach is

vital to the continued success of environmental policies and law.

UK Environmental Law Association: better law for the environment

Registered charity 299498, company limited by guarantee in England 2133283
Registered office: One Glass Wharf, Bristol, BS2 0ZX www.ukela.org

President: Rt Hon Lord Carnwath CVO of Notting Hill

Tudalen y pecyn 42



42.UKELA WWP urges the UK Government and devolved administrations to achieve
agreement or close cooperation with each other to ensure that (i) common
environmental principles are adopted and (ii) that the environmental principles are

applied in a similar way across the UK.

43.This will also help ensure consistent commitment to the UK's international
environmental obligations. It will also present a common position on environmental
protection to trading partners and third countries generally and set standards for

international co-operation and collaboration.

44.The fact that the list of principles in the EU (Withdrawal) Act 2018 is different to that
in existing relevant Welsh legislation adds complexity. So too does the intention to
provide a statement of those principles as there may be differences between the

four nations in their interpretation.

45,1t is essential to environmental protection and the safeguarding of natural resources
across all four nations that they are able to act by mutual agreement and it is vital

that institutional mechanisms are created to support this.

19: What potential governance structures do you consider are needed to enable

collaboration and collective decision-making to enable interface between

administrations.

46.UKELA WWP suggests that one possibility is a common structure, such as the one
for the UK Climate Change Committee. The new arrangements must fully respect
national/devolved laws and differences, pools resource, sets common frameworks
of recognisable environmental principles and common standards and methods of
applying them. It should also include machinery to challenge government

departments and public bodies for non-compliance with environmental legislation.

UK Environmental Law Association: better law for the environment

Registered charity 299498, company limited by guarantee in England 2133283
Registered office: One Glass Wharf, Bristol, BS2 0ZX www.ukela.org

President: Rt Hon Lord Carnwath CVO of Notting Hill

Tudalen y pecyn 43



47.Alternatively, we should at least provide a duty of collaboration with bodies with
comparable functions in all other parts of the UK, and legislative provisions which
will both allow and encourage the adoption and promotion of similar principles and

standards.

48.Finally, there would be real merit in setting a duty to review these arrangements for
common frameworks with counterparts in other parts of the UK, for example within

5 years.

UK Environmental Law Association Wales Working Party

UK Environmental Law Association: better law for the environment

Registered charity 299498, company limited by guarantee in England 2133283
Registered office: One Glass Wharf, Bristol, BS2 0ZX www.ukela.org

President: Rt Hon Lord Carnwath CVO of Notting Hill

Tudalen y pecyn 44



Eitem 5.1

Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

By email
31 May 2019
RE: Correspondence from the Climate Change, Environment and Rural Affairs Committee

Dear Mike,
Thank you for your letter dated 21 March 2019, following the meeting on 10 January 2019.

Please read below the information you requested.

Role and responsibilities of the Commissioner

We note that a significant part of your role to date has centred around supporting the cultural change
necessary to embed the Act across public bodies. Your role has also led you to publicly challenge the way
in which some of these bodies are applying the Act in practice. For example, in the case of Natural
Resources Wales to decisions on environmental permitting, and the Welsh Government’s decision-making
process for the M4 relief road.

1. Can you explain how you approach balancing these different aspects of your role?

In the first two years of the implementation of the Act, my role has been more focused on advice and assistance,
supporting public bodies and less on challenging them directly. Over the years, | foresee that this balance might
change. As | have stressed many times before, | was not established with a case-work function unlike other
commissioners.

| have established criteria to decide when | challenge systemic issues and behaviours which are relevant at the
population level rather than at individual case level, which are raised with me in addition to the areas of change, |
have proactively chosen to pursue, such as decarbonisation and budgeting for the future.

The criteria | ran to consider issues flagged to me include the following questions:
e Does itinvolve bodies covered by the Act?
e (Can the process still be influenced?
e What is the scale of the project/decision?
e Does it affect more than one part of Wales or a significant section of the population?

e Isitacross cutting issue?

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru conta iﬁiﬁfs erations,wal
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru futureT iilééoﬁévévn 45



Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

e Are there precedents?

e Does it come within my areas of focus?

e Is there potential for transferable knowledge?
e Have we done work on this issue before?

e Can we resource action?

| have used such criteria to decide to act in relation to the M4, land use planning and environmental permitting. |
have also provided advice and challenge to the Government on a number of topics, including the establishment of the
Infrastructure Commission, the childcare offer, the Local Government Bill and the interaction between PSBs and RPBs,
the criteria for the Housing Innovation Programme, the allocation of the Health Transformation Fund and 5G for
example. | have also responded to calls for evidence from Assembly Committees and Government in relation to air
pollution, decarbonisation of houses for example.

In addition to those, | have also responded to 183 requests for advice and assistance from public bodies and answered
251 letters from members of the public, their representative and community groups in the last year alone.

2. We would like you to explain:

- In what circumstances you would consider exercising your power to review public bodies under
section 20 of the Act:

| am considering using my review powers in a similar way as described above and | believe my criteria is also
relevant. In addition to this, | want to use this power as an extension of advice | have already given to public
bodies, or when problems or issues clearly emerge through my monitoring and assessment of progress (or lack of
progress) towards well-being objectives, or through issues raised with me directly while within the legal
parameters of the power.

This year, | am minded to use my review powers for the first time in relation to procurement and in relation to the
relationship between Welsh Government and the health sector, exploring the extent to which Welsh Government
enable and incentivise health bodies to meet their well-being objectives and fully embed the five ways of working
across their work. | am minded to use this course of action because having provided advice on procurement and
to the Health Department in Government and subsequently undertaking the first round of monitoring and
assessing of public bodies, | cannot see how sufficient progress is being made. Both these areas relate to my areas
of focus, i.e procurement is a key driver of either positive or negative progress across the well-being goals and is
directly related to a majority of my areas of focus. The extent to which the Government is driving or hindering
health boards’ application of the Act is key to making progress in my areas of focus relating to better ways to keep
people well.

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru I¢ e jons.wale,
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru maféﬁng&?@%yﬁ &6



Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

- and whether, in your view this power could be used to challenge misapplication of the Act or non-
compliance with duties under the Act:

The provisions around me conducting a review are set out in section 20 the Act:
The Commissioner may conduct a review into the extent to which a public body is safeguarding the ability
of future generations to meet their needs by taking account of the long term impact of things the body
does under section 3.
In conducting a review, the Commissioner may review—

(a) the steps the body has taken or proposes to take to meet its well-being objectives;

(b) the extent to which the body is meeting its well-being objectives;

(c) whether a body has set well-being objectives and taken steps to meet them in accordance with
the sustainable development principle.

| am minded to use this power when | would like to issue formal recommendations on systemic issues using the
criteria above or when | think the sustainable development principle can particularly help or resolve blockages in
the application of the Act.

| am intending to use this route when | see lack of progress, barriers to implementation and potentially wrong
behaviours contrary to the application of the Act.

It is important to stress that this power would not allow me to change decisions already made and that my
recommendations would apply for the future only. My role was not set up to be an Ombudsman or an extra level

to appeal in the

Act.

Welsh Ministers are not required to respond to recommendations you make in accordance with Section

21

3. Do you believe such requirement should be included in the Act?

Section 22 Duty to follow recommendations

(1)A public body must take all reasonable steps to follow the course of action set out in a
recommendation made to it by the Commissioner under section 20(4) unless—
(a)the public body is satisfied that there is good reason for it not to follow the recommendation in
particular categories of case or at all, or
(b)it decides on an alternative course of action in respect of the subject matter of the recommendation.
(2)The Welsh Ministers may issue guidance to other public bodies about how to respond to a
recommendation made by the Commissioner.
(3)In deciding how to respond to such a recommendation, a public body must take such guidance into
account.
(4)A public body must publish its response to a recommendation made by the Commissioner and if the
body does not follow a recommendation, the response must include the body’s reasons for that and
explain what alternative course of action, if any, it proposes to take.

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales

Siambrau’r Farchnad,

Caerdydd, CF10 1AT

5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru conta iﬁi&c}é erations,wal
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru futureT iil;éoﬂévévn 47



Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

It makes clear that, as a public body, Welsh Government must publish a response to my recommendations issued
under section 20 following a review but it does not mention the recommendations | can issue under section 21 in
relation to my recommendations about the well-being goals or the national indicators. While | expect Welsh
Government to respond to all my recommendations and correspondence, it could make sense for consistency if
Welsh Ministers had to issue a statutory response to all the recommendations | make under section 20 or 21 or
any recommendations | may issue. But | understand this is a matter for the Assembly and Government as this
would require a change in the Act.

Welsh Government’s budget process

In December 2018 you published a report ‘Advice to Welsh Government on taking account of the Well-
being of Future Generations Act in the budget process’.

4. Has the Welsh Government provided a response to your report? Has the response been published?

Welsh Government have not published a response to my advice, but | have had two meetings with the Minister
for Finance and | am expecting to meet her again in July. | am focusing my monitoring of the budget in three
areas:

- Developing a Journey Checker on the budget process, demonstrating what can change, starting with
simple changes, then more adventurous change and finally transformational change. Welsh
Government have been receptive to working with us on this so far.

- Prevention: Using the definition of prevention agreed by Welsh Government last year, focusing on
how Welsh Government’s budget process is prioritising investment in prevention; and monitoring
this.

- Decarbonisation: Following the publication of ‘Prosperity for All: A Low Carbon Wales’ and the recent
declaration of a Climate Emergency, assessing the level of investment needed to support the level of
ambition; and monitoring this.

Monitoring and assessment of public bodies

In your annual report for 2017-18, you said that one of the areas on which you would be focusing during
2019 would be “the process of monitoring and assessing public bodies as they produce their first set of
annual reports”

5. Can you describe how you will undertake this work and the timescales for its completion?

Building on my work from 2017 when | analysed the 345 well-being objectives set by public bodies, | drew out
common themes emerging, which gave me a unique ‘helicopter view’ of how the Act was being implemented

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru I¢ e jons.wale,
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru maféﬁng&?@%yﬁ &8



Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

particularly in my policy priorities. Overwhelmingly, objectives had the tone of improving the economic and social
well-being of localities, with less emphasis on the environment or culture. My reflections on the purpose,
progress and pace of this work and recommendations on what | would expect to see in annual reports were
included in my report 'Well-being in Wales - the journey so far' published in May 2018.

Between April 2018 and March 2019, public bodies produced their first annual reports following the setting of
their well-being objectives. This enabled me to start monitoring and assessing progress.

| designed a methodology which fully embraced the Act and the five ways of working and which supported public
bodies to keep trying, keep communicating and keep moving in (generally) the right direction. | also wanted to
encourage them to share their successes and their shortcomings openly so that we can all learn together. |
wanted to provide public bodies with a helpful assessment on areas which may require further focus and not be
an overly burdensome process.

Given the extent of my resources, | chose to meet my duty by reviewing the first annual reports (2017/18) of each
public body with the help of an external, independent research team. The monitoring was based on a self-
reflection tool in 3 parts to map and assess organisational progress in the delivery on: their well-being objectives,
the five ways of working and my areas for change. | also gave them an opportunity to flag any information beyond
their annual reports which they wanted to flag to me or which showed their progress.

Public bodies were then grouped into collaborative communities of practice to share their findings with each
other, which served as feedback and learning for each public body, as they go about drafting their corporate plans
and annual reports in future. | will give individual feedback to each public body over the coming months and will
produce an overall report in the summer containing the methodology, key findings and sector-specific
observations.

Next year, | will provide more tailored advice on progressing towards well-being objectives. This will be based on
common themes arising from objectives across Wales. This work will also inform the contents of my first Future
Generations Report in 2020.

Extracts of feedback from public bodies:

The self-reflection tool has helped see alignment to their accounts and particularly the seven corporate
areas for change

It helped look at strategic priorities and the goals, the five ways of working and seven corporate areas of
change in a different way this year. “The self-reflection tool has really helped us with this — with thinking
differently.”

One body will put the questions from the tool in their business planning processes. “The way we’re
setting up our annual report this year will be different because we’ve had this tool. It’s been real learning”

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru conta iﬁiﬁfs erations,wal
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru futureT iilééoﬁévévn 49


http://futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/FGCW-1-year-Report-_English.pdf

Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

The tool was initially viewed as a “another thing to do” but has actually “provided a really useful
framework for looking at things”.

One body felt that the value was in doing something like this again next year as it helped them to see where
they were, and they can look back.

Another said that “It prompted us to have honest discussions across the organisation about the progress
that we’ve made. It provides a baseline that we can consider future progress against. We plan to use the
tool on an ongoing basis as part of our quarterly business planning reporting”.

Decarbonisation

In your report ‘Advice to Welsh Government on taking account of the Well-being of Future Generations
Act in the budget process’, you recommend that:

“Welsh Government clearly articulate how the actions set out in the Low Carbon Delivery Plan
will be funded in order for us to meet our statutory emission reduction targets.”

6. What are your views on the Welsh Government’s first Decarbonisation Plan, that was published on 21
March 2019?

The Plan is comprehensive and covers a wide range of policies and proposals given the timescales for the plan as
it is only to 2020. It sets a good foundation but we will need to see future plans being more ambitious if we are
going to address the 11-year window of climate emergency.

In my response to their consultation last Summer, | highlighted areas | felt were not ambitious enough — eg
transport sector. Welsh Government’s proposed actions did not include anything on public transport whereas the
plan now includes:

- proposals to achieve a modal shift from car dependency to sustainable forms of transport,
- significantly increasing modal share of active travel for short journeys,

- using planning policy to promote sustainable travel and reduce the need to travel, and

- increasing travel by rail and bus.

| am also pleased to see a focus on equity and climate justice through the establishment of a ‘climate just’
advisory group, and also the announcement of £5million funding from the ESRC for a new Centre to focus on
research into behaviour change on decarbonisation. It is positive to see a strong focus on people and behaviour
change, however people also need to see that things are actually changing — for example if the majority of new

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru I¢ e jons.wal
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru maféﬁng&?@wﬁ QSO



Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

houses being built in Wales are not being built to zero carbon standards, and Welsh Government have the power
to set better standards in Wales, why aren’t they enforcing these? Again, it is positive to see actions in the plan
around setting higher standards for new build, driving innovation through the Innovative Housing programme,
and funding through the Sustainable Buildings Policy, but this is something that could and should have been done
10 years ago so we need to see radical change — e.g. all new homes to be zero carbon, and quickly.

These proposals are welcome, but we now need to see investment to support these actions and this has not been
articulated in the Low Carbon Plan.

Since publishing the plan in March Welsh Government has declared a “climate emergency”, the UK Committee on
climate change has also published its Net Zero report advising how UK should aim for net zero emissions by 2050
(95% for Wales). | am expecting future plans to be more ambitious and include stronger commitments such as
restricting car use in urban centres to tackle climate change and air quality issues, further investment in
decarbonising housing stock and a closer link between the steps that need to be taken to halt ecological decline
especially in those areas such as peatland restoration and tree coverage which also have a positive impact on
carbon reduction.

7. The first Decarbonisation Plan contains no detailed costs. Given that the Welsh Government has
declined to take forward your recommendation, what action do you intend to take?

Their current plan — Low Carbon Wales — covers actions up to 2020. My budget monitoring work last year
indicated that only around 1% of the total Welsh Government budget is spent supporting decarbonisation actions
— this clearly isn’t adequate given their declaration of a climate emergency.

Their Regulatory Impact Assessment for Low Carbon Wales that informed the Climate Change Regulations 2018
(http://www.assembly.wales/laid documents/sub-Id11811-em/sub-ld11811-em-e.pdf) does include some
information on costing the pathways, based on estimates provided by the UK CCC, but more detailed costing for
these proposals whilst being a significant undertaking, is clearly necessary. | am concerned that without more
detailed costing on specific actions another budget round will pass without the necessary resources being
allocated to the climate emergency. With this in mind, my office have been drawing from a range of existing
evidence and engaging with a range of stakeholders to produce a discussion paper which will outline the possible
funding allocations which will be needed to deliver the low carbon plan and resource the climate emergency. This
10 point plan will be published shortly and will form the basis of further discussion with experts NGOs and
Government which will in turn inform my approach to monitoring this year’s budget.

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru conta ;ﬁi&eé egaé." SéVé' 51
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru future wal Cﬁ Vn


http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/sub-ld11811-em/sub-ld11811-em-e.pdf

Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

8. Are you satisfied with the approach taken by the Welsh Government?

| am pleased to see considerable focus on the Well-being of Future Generations Act within the plan, which
reflects the emphasis placed by the Decarbonisation team within Welsh Government on following the 5 Ways of
working and reflecting the 7 well-being goals:

e There is a spotlight on the 7 well-being goals throughout the plan, and for each sector they set out the
evidence from the well-being appraisal that they’ve followed, using their well-being matrix They have also
set out how the Ways of Working and considering the well-being goals have guided the development of
the Plan — they have adopted the 5 Ways of Working to guide and shape their plan:

o Prevention: establishing a Climate Justice Advisory group to ensure a transition that is equitable
and avoids unintended consequences;

o Integration and collaboration: Decarbonisation is now a cross-government priority so governance
includes a Ministerial Task and Finish group, a cross-government Programme board, and also an
internal and external cross-sector group to facilitate collaboration;

o Involvement: they have involved range of stakeholders throughout process.

e They have developed a well-being policy development tool (matrix) to help explore the social, cultural,
economic and environmental impact of potential decarbonisation actions. It prompts consideration of well-
being goals and well-being objectives relating to a broad range of areas, including jobs, air quality, and
community cohesion. It identifies expected impacts and suggests where policies can be strengthened in
relation to one or more of the well-being goals.

| am encouraged by their approach, but | do feel that ambition, scale and pace of change, needs to accelerate
over the next few years, focusing on what can be achieved urgently and over the coming decade to avoid the
climate breakdown predicted by the IPCC. Although their proposals in some sectors (eg transport) have improved
in the final plan, compared with the ideas proposed in the consultation, action and investment to support the
significant change that’s needed, such as modal shift, now needs to follow. There are other areas such as zero
carbon new homes which have been discussed and considered for many years — Low Carbon Wales includes a
policy to “Set higher energy efficiency standards for new builds through reviewing Building Regulations Part L
(Conservation of Fuel and Power)” but we now need to see firm commitments being made urgently.

Environmental Permitting

9. We would like you to clarify whether you were involved in the development of the guidance, as
suggested by NRW in its evidence to us.

We participated in several meetings and we commented on the initial draft. As | indicated in a letter to the Minister for
Environment, Energy and Rural Affairs in December 2018, we were not given an opportunity to comment on the final
draft. While | think that the guidance has achieved some clarification of what SMINR entails for NRW, | am not sure it

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru I¢ e jons.wal
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru Mﬁéﬁnﬁmgyﬁq\%z



Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

clarifies all the interactions between the Environment Act and the Well-being of Future Generations generally, and in
particular in the context of environmental permitting.

10. What further action do you intend to take to ensure that your concerns about the robustness of the
guidance are addressed?

The Minister indicated in a letter to me in October 2018. She said: she “agree[s] we should be looking to ensure
better transparency of the application of regulatory processes, including how they interact with each other. At
present many specific environmental legislation requirements are derived from EU law, and will be rolling over for
Brexit. As you can appreciate, resources within Welsh Government are focused on Brexit. However, following the
Brexit transition period we will have the opportunity to review all our environmental legislation to ensure it is fit
for purpose, including testing alignment with both the Environment Act and the Well-being of Future Generations
Act.”

11. We would like you to provide an update on discussions you have had with NRW and the Welsh
Government on the suggested contradictions between the guidance and the matrix. In particular, are
you satisfied that this issue has now been resolved?

| have written specifically to the Minister and NRW in December 2018 asking for an explanation of where such
contradictions arise as they are not apparent to me. We have had two initial meetings with Welsh Government
officials in January and February 2019 but are awaiting to hear from NRW and Welsh Government where they see
contradictions exactly. My team have written to them again in May 2019 to this effect. | am clear that the SMNR
duty of NRW does not supersede the Well-being of Future Generations Act duties and that the well-being duty
like the equality duties and other duties have all to be met. | see thhat complementarity and integration are
integral to our Act. While | am still awaiting a clear explanation of where they see contradictions, the letter
referred to above suggested this is something Welsh Government will explore post-Brexit in the context of the
wider environmental law context.

12. We would also like you to clarify whether work on the matrix has now resumed. If so, when is it likely
to be completed?

We have had no discussions with NRW on the Matrix work since November 2018 when they decided to stop the
work on the Matrix which they said ‘was no longer appropriate’ now the Welsh Government’s Guidance had been
published.

While this work on the specific Matrix has not resumed, | will publish in the summer my report on monitoring and
assessing which will include a similar document, a flowchart this time setting out my expectations as to the
evidence which | advise the public body to produce to show how the Act is being applied in their decision-making
process. It will provide advice on the different elements of the Act | think should be considered in line with the

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru conta iﬁiﬁfs erations,wal
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru futureT iil;éoﬂévévn 53



Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

Well-being of Future Generations Act and the ‘Making Good Decision’ Guidance from the Welsh Government.
This will be equivalent to the contents of the proposed Matrix, presented differently and it will be relevant to all
Public Bodies and anyone who want to use the Act. | will expect NRW to take account of my advice in their work
as will every public body contributing to the achievement of the well-being goals.

M4 relief road

In your evidence to us, you made clear that you do not consider that the decision-making process of the proposed
M4 relief road has “reflected the requirements of [the 2015 Act].” We are concerned about this. We are equally
concerned that legal representatives in your Office and within the Welsh Government are interpreting the Act in
considerably different ways. This does not bode well for the successful implementation of the Act.

13. We would like you to set out any action you intend to take to seek to ensure that these differences in
interpretation are addressed.

My duties include to act as the guardian of the ability of future generations to meet their needs and therefore |
believe it is my role to challenge the Welsh Government to lead by example, be ambitious and drive the change
needed by current and future generations. | meet regularly with Welsh Government officials regarding a range of
issues and work closely with them in providing joint advice support and guidance to public bodies. For example,
we work closely with Welsh Government's 'Local Government Partnerships' team in providing advice, support and
guidance to the 19 Public Service Boards in Wales. A recent example is our office leading a PSB thematic training
event in Wrexham focused on skills, in conjunction with Cardiff Business School. Similarly, we have developed a
joint work programme with Welsh Government's NHS Planning Team focused on ensuring health bodies are
embedding the WFG Act into everything they do. One aspect of this relates to long-term planning and at the NHS
long-term planning conference in March 2019 my team ran a workshop on long-term and futures thinking, using
the ‘3 Horizons' model. The purpose was to demonstrate that whilst the focus of IMTPs is on the ‘medium term’,
this should be in the context of the longer term. We received very positive feedback from delegates.

Since the establishment of a Future Generations Unit in Welsh Government we have met twice with officials to
discuss interpretation questions and application of the Act. | have shared with them the decision-making flow
chart | am working on, following taking legal advice from Queen’s Counsel and others. | am conscious that the
Government are unlikely to express a position different from that which they put forward during the public
inquiry on the M4, whilst that decision is pending, and therefore | intend to meet with officials and lawyers again
once the First Minister has made his decision on this matter.

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru I¢ e jons.wal
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru maféﬁng&?@%yﬁ 654



Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

14. Given the significance of this decision and your concerns that any misapplication of the Act could set an
unhelpful precedent, we would also like you to clarify what action you intend to take if, in your view,
the Welsh Government’s decision on the M4 relief road is unfavourable.

| am currently considering a number of options but have not formally decided what | will do as it will depend on
the Welsh Government’s decision and justifications. | will consider very carefully my options when the decision is
made and in light of any legal action that may be taken by other parties.

Transport
In reference to WelTAG 2017, you said in your annual report 2017-18 that you were:

“in the process of agreeing an approach with Welsh Government to monitor and assess the effectiveness
of new guidance and have committed to supporting them to look at how it is being applied on a small
number of projects, to assess its impact and record how it is leading to different decisions.”

15. Can you provide an update to the Committee on this matter?

In the past few months, | have reviewed and challenged two WelTAG reports — one for a scheme in Llandeilo and
another for Haverfordwest and discussed other schemes with Welsh Government officials. | am concerned that
generally those writing or commissioning the reports do not have adequate understanding of the Act and the new
ways of working. At the end of April 2019, | wrote to all transport officers in Welsh Government, local authorities
and main consultancies, asking for them to flag with me what is working well and not so well in their application
of the new WelTAG guidance. | have pointed directly to them my recent ‘Transport Fit for the Future’ and
stressed the importance of the role of the transport sector if we are to realise the ambition set out in the Welsh
Government Decarbonisation Pathway. | will consider the responses | receive in deciding what would do next to
be most useful and impactful.

| have been very clear on my expectations which is, if they haven’t applied the five Ways of Working at Stage 1,
they need to start again. | am also clear that WelTAG cannot be applied to proposed road schemes as such. The
whole idea is to consider first if there are other solutions which can address the congestion first and for the
longer-term. To address this, | have contributed at several events with engineers and professionals working at all
levels of the transport planning system.

As part of the Welsh Government review of the application of WelTAG to date, | have also facilitated workshops
with the Welsh Government for the different groups using WelTAG (consultants, Local authorities, planners etc.)
to discuss the application of WelTAG and to restate the importance of using my Well-being Framework for
projects included in the Welsh Government supplementary guidance to be used alongside the WelTAG guidance
itself.

Consultants explained that their clients sometimes asked them to apply WelTAG to a bypass ‘they already
wanted’. This shows there is a clear need to raise awareness and train all those involved in the process at
government, local authority and consultancy level. The Welsh Government committed to continue organising

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru conta iﬁiﬁfs erations,wal
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru futureT iil;éoﬂévévn 55



Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

such workshops to build a dialogue, to share findings and to promote good practice in the sector. We will

continue to take part in those.

Whilst this is welcome, this highlights an issue that | have been raising continually with Government regarding the
lack of investment for implementing the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act and supporting the significant
cultural change that is required. | would welcome the committee raising this point with Cabinet Secretaries.

16. How will you measure the impact of your intervention?

See also my response at question 22. As with any of my work, | will use my strategic performance measures for

my Office to assess the impact of this intervention. These are used and detailed in:

e Frame debate and got issues on the agenda

e Encourage discursive commitments from Ministers, Government and others
e Secure procedural change in how public bodies go about things

e Affect policy content and commitments

¢ Influence practical behaviour change in others

| am also working on an internal system to follow up in the longer-term which will integrate the different strands

of my duties, powers and work programmes. | include a diagram which explains the approach | take :

Wi (AT BT P, T T P

THE ISSUE

g Iranspct
Fuid iz e ol
vt Tor pasrpose

MONITORING AND

ASSESSING
ADVICE AMND
o i 2 SUPPORT
Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru I¢ e jons.wal
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru Mﬁéﬁnﬁr@&yﬁ%G



Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

Housing

17. Can you provide an update on the outcome of discussions with the Welsh Government in relation to
your concerns about the current application criteria for the IHP?

Following an assessment of the criteria for the Housing Innovation Programme | became involved during the
second year of the programme. | met with the Cabinet Secretary to express my concerns and followed up with
officials to provide clarification regarding the Act. A member of my staff also attended a meeting with the project
teams where the short-listed projects were discussed, as well as the feedback issued back to IHP in how they met
the Well-being of Future Generations Act. Decisions had already been made as to which projects to choose and
the clarification meetings did not change the outcome of these.

My main concern was that the application process stressed that each project should only contribute to one goal.
This goes against the holistic concept of well-being where public bodies should seek to achieve all goals and the
statutory guidance is clear that we cannot cherry pick goals.

| provided ongoing advice to the teams involved to improve both the Welsh Government and candidates’
awareness and assessment of the projects in Year 3 and how best practice can be shared with other projects
moving forward. This resulted in a commitment from Government that in Year 3 the Act would be given much
more consideration and weight.

| have been pleased to see that my advice has been taken on board and the launch of year 3 IHP programme
information now formally states that the aim of IHP is to:

Increase the supply of affordable housing as part of the 20,000 additional affordable homes target;

Do this in a way that aligns the design and delivery of affordable housing with the seven goals of the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act (WFGA);

Address cost and value in new homes, and develop housing that meets specific current and future
housing needs;

Publicly disseminate key findings and maximise learning.

The Technical Specification for the IHP was developed reflecting these aims. The guidance states that all schemes
must demonstrate compliance with the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act. The application will need
to set out how the scheme will support meeting all of the well-being goals, and also demonstrate how the ways of
working will be used to improve the scheme through its life. They have now mapped out the 7 Goals against the
focus themes within the application form and looked at the short-term, medium-term and long-term benefits.
Innovation must meet at least one but not more than three of the seven cross-cutting focus areas: CO2, capital,
change, health, energy, space and place. There is no longer a requirement to only focus on one goal.

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru conta iﬁiﬁfs erations,wal
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru futureT iil;éoﬂévévn 57



Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

| will still advise them that they need to go even further and ensure that proposals should maximise their
contribution to all of the goals. The guidance maps out the goals against the themes, but the 5 ways of working
are not reflected. | will also enquire about plans for the future of this funding stream to understand how
innovation will be supported beyond Year 3.

18. Can you set out how you intend to influence the development of future application criteria for the IHP?

Answered above.

19. In terms of the extent to which you have been able to influence the IHP, what do you believe would
constitute a success?

| believe what would constitute success would be to have several projects completed, monitored and measured
which constitute real sustainable innovation (fully contributing to the well-being goals), that can be scaled up and
applied to most if not all future new housing developments and which will meet future needs.

The Innovative Housing Programme needs to provide demonstration of homes fit for the future, meet future
needs, are low carbon, adaptable, reduce fuel poverty, and provide healthy and safe environments to live in that
connect communities, for example in line with the Act.

It is important that the best practice developed in Years 1 to 3 relating to the design and built process are shared
and adopted throughout the housing industry.

| would also like the Well-being of Future Generations Act (goals, objectives and five ways of working) to be
embedded within all future housing funding application schemes.

Few projects have been completed yet but we can see examples of good practice emerging which | will follow
with interest. In Swansea:

- The council built 18 units of new affordable housing in year 1 to Passivhaus Standard. Monitoring

is being carried out to review the effectiveness of energy savings within the homes. In year 2,

they secured funding for 34 units of homes as power stations which are currently being

constructed. They will allow a comparison against the construction method of Passivhaus and fabric first
to compare effectiveness of the projects.

- The Swansea-based housing association Coastal Housing Association in partnership with a social
enterprise received funding to deliver three new innovative housing projects across South West Wales.

e One of them is to build 12 homes at Killan Road in Dunvant to energy-positive standards
i.e. they will produce more energy than they use. The homes will be built using the Homes as
Power Stations (HAPS) model, with a focus on reducing energy consumption and addressing
fuel poverty through reduced reliance on fossil fuels. This new street of innovative, energy
positive homes will use solar PV, electric battery storage and borehole ground source heat

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru I¢ e jons.wal
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru maféﬁng&?@%yﬁ 658



Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

pumps (GSHP) to generate up to 80% of their energy required for heat and power. The
remaining 20% will be provided by the electricity grid, of which a small percentage will come
directly from a community owned local solar farm, administered by Gower Power. Coastal
Housing will also provide an electric vehicles for communal use as part of the project.

e Another project they will deliver will comprise of 8 new homes in Neath Port Talbot, all
constructed off-site, to showcase the best modular designs from Wales and Japan. As
modaular housing is still an emerging construction technique in Wales, Coastal hopes that the
project will provide an opportunity to learn from other countries where it is more advanced.

Milestones under the Act

The Welsh Government is currently consulting on national milestones, required under the Act. The Government’s
intention is to identify a small set of the national indicators against which national milestones will be developed.

20. We would like your view on the extent to which this approach is in keeping with the Welsh
Government’s duties under the Act.

| welcome the approach officials have taken in engaging on the proposed criteria to set milestones and views on
the existing indicators in an effort to model the five ways of working and improve involvement within the process.
| understand they have provided a number of opportunities for interested parties to engage alongside the online
consultation. | appreciate the work that has gone into identifying the original 46 indicators, and the current
proposed selection of 15 indicators among those against which milestones could be developed. This is a difficult
task.

In general, | agree with the proposed five essential criteria for selecting the national milestones as outlined within
the consultation document and welcome how they are linked to the five ways of working, however, | have
recommended additional criteria that the milestones should be easily communicable.

My office has liaised with the members of my Advisory Panel, alongside other interested parties, who have shared
their views regarding setting milestones against specific indicators. These views are outlined within my response
to the consultation, and | believe some of the concerns highlighted would be mitigated by my proposal to set
headline milestones, which would apply to a suite of indicators. | have suggested that there is a case for aligning
the milestones with my priority areas which were set following extensive consultation as well as engagement and
involvement with a range of stakeholders and experts. These areas have been selected as areas which, if the right
sort of progress is made, had the biggest potential to drive progress across all the well-being goals. These could
then be used within the grouped themes of: Early Years; People’s Health and Well-being; Good Jobs; Fairness and
Living Standards; Involved and Responsible Communities; Language and Culture; Low Carbon Economy; Healthy
Ecosystems, as proposed within my response to the consultation on the national indicators in 2015.

Whilst | appreciate that national data may currently be lacking in some of the suggested areas, | have invited
further engagement on how the Government can be supporting measurement which is future focused.

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru conta iﬁiﬁfs erations,wal
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru futureT iil;éoﬂévévn 59



Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

In my 2015 response, | raised specific concerns regarding the disaggregation of data by protected groups and the
inclusion of children. Whilst | understand some progress has been made, | am aware that the Children’s
Commissioner has raised her concerns regarding reporting arrangements for indicator 6 ‘measurement of the
development of younger children’. | firmly believe that it is essential to understand and measure the views and
experiences of children and young people. It is also vital that indicators are capable of disaggregation by all of the
protected equality characteristics and by socio-economic group as we must be able to understand whether
certain groups are being left behind. | have requested that | am updated by Welsh Government on the progress in
this area.

Officials have committed to meeting further following the closing of the consultation to explore further my
proposed approach and to model what the milestones could look like in practice, which | look forward to doing in

due course.

Governance and transparency

21. Can you provide the Committee with further information about the operation of the advisory panel, in
particular, how often the panel meets and where other relevant information, such as notes of
meetings, are published?

| formally consult and meet with my advisory panel twice a year to discuss my strategic priorities, my work
programmes, my annual reports and progress on my Future Generations report. Notes of meetings are not
published.

| value the perspectives each member brings to meetings and over the last three years | have taken on board
many of their suggestions.

| also seek advice from members regularly where their experience has a direct relevance to an issue. For
example, | am currently working with the Childrens Commissioner to ensure young people’s voices are heard as
part of the climate emergency. | have discussed my proposed intervention in respect of the health service with
the Chief Medical Officer and will be sharing the findings from my monitoring and assessing work with the panel.
My correspondence team as liaised with the team of the Public Services Ombudsman and | have also engaged the
members of the panel (via their offices) in developing my work on providing guidance on the goals through my Art
of the Possible Programme.

| reviewed this combination of formal and informal contact with my panel in May 2019 and we agreed this is a
unique forum in which as well as advising me on my statutory matters we all learn about potential areas of
overlap in our work programmes and value the opportunity to discuss integration and collaboration
opportunities. We have agreed to continue with this format for the remainder of my term. | will also be asking
Welsh Ministers to appoint a person to represent the Third sector to my advisory panel this year.

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru I¢ e jons.wal
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru maféﬁng&?@%yﬁ %O



Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

22. Can you explain the processes that are in place to assess your impact and that of your Office on the
exercise of your functions?

As | mentioned in my 2017-18 Annual Report | have adopted performance measures which will help me
demonstrate the impact of my office. These are focused on outcomes rather than outputs. | didn't want to
measure things done, | wanted measures that would provide evidence of what difference my office is making and
show how the work we do is supporting and challenging others to change towards a more sustainable way of
working.

My five strategic performance measures are:

Framing debates and getting issues onto agendas

Encouraging discursive commitments from ministers, Government and other policy setters
Securing procedural change in how public bodies and others go about things

Affecting policy content and commitment

Influencing practical behaviour change in others

AN NN

The measures are qualitative, and | set out the impact we have made on the transformational agenda for public
bodies in Wales in my 2017-18 annual report. The report also highlights how this work contributes to the seven
well-being goals and provides examples of where the five ways of working are being used to good effect. | will
report on progress again in all my future annual reports.

Land use planning

23. Can you explain how the Act is successfully embedded into the revised PPW?

Firstly, the Act has been fully used to create the policy from day one. The officials clearly used the 5 ways of
working themselves and sought to maximise the contribution of the policy to the goals. | would like to stress that
this one of the best examples we have seen to date of the use of the Act to design national policy in Wales and of
engagement with my office.

Secondly, the policy actively promotes the use of the 5 ways of working by the users of the policy throughout the
document and in the different chapters of the policy. Its substance seeks to and will directly contribute to the
achievement of the goals, helping for example with decarbonisation, tackling poverty, reducing inequalities
through the transport, energy, housing sections for example. There are a multitude of examples to choose from
which | am sure the Committee has noticed. This intent is clearly shown in the Annex B table showing how each
element of the policy is designed to drive outcomes contributing to achievement of each of the well-being goals.
The concept of place-making also places people at the heart of the policy and is designed to maximise
contribution across all of the goals. The policy states in multiple places that proposed developments must be used
to identify proposed developments that bring benefits to all four aspects of well-being.

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru conta iﬁiﬁfs erations,wal
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru futureT iil;éoﬂévévn 61



Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

24. Can you provide examples of revisions that have been made to PPW as a result of your work and that
of your Office?

I have influenced the Government’s processes in using the five ways of working and in particular the involvement
principle and ensured a strong narrative on the Well-being of Future Generations Act was consistent and focused
on the seven well-being goals.

| have advised early the team of officials that they needed to involve stakeholders and people much before any
consultation stage on a draft policy. Following this advice, they organised workshops throughout Wales about
their intentions and to ask what representatives of the four pillars of well-being would expect a new Planning
Policy Wales to include or address. They said that the feedback they got at this very initial stage enabled them to
be bolder in the policy approach they would take.

We also worked together on aligning the policy to the well-being goals which is visible throughout the document
and is clearly set out in Annex B of the document. | have also insisted on the long-term vision the policy should
provide and | required the inclusion of and the consideration of future trends each time it was possible.

| ensured that the aspirations contained correct references to the five ways of working, to the well-being goals in
their holistic nature, including low carbon, equality and reduction in poverty.

| worked with officials and stakeholders to ensure the policy had the right focus in line with the goals as is
reflected in the hierarchy of energy sources, transport hierarchy, mix of housing offer and placing people at the
centre of planning among other things.

| insisted cultural well-being was included and facilitated contacts between officials and the sector.

| stressed the need to have clear evidence of the decision-making process, including how any proposed
development would contribute to all aspects of well-being (building on the experience from environmental
permitting). Such requirement is now included at paragraph 1.19 of PPW10.

| have also flagged that the implementation of the policy on the ground will be a key challenge, and learning from
the experience with WelTAG to date, Welsh Government and the sector will need to invest significantly in training
to ensure the aspirations of the policy truly come to life. This is because the Act and this Policy require a
fundamental cultural change for all involved, from developers to councillors and because of the complexity of the
system which includes governance arrangements for the production of plans at 3 levels (NDF, SDPs potentially
and LDPs). This is an area | might revisit in the future once the new policy has had a chance to be embedded.

Yours sincerely,

Sophie Howe

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 St Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru I¢ e jons.wal
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru Mﬁéﬁnﬁﬁgyﬁ%z



g S

PUBLIC SERVICES OMBLUDSMAN FOR WALES
CMBWDSMOM GWASANAETHAL CYHOEDDUS CYMRBU

Ein cyf: NB/mm Gofynnwch Nick Bennett
am:
Dyddiad: 3 Mehefin 2019 B

Mike Hedges AC
Cadeirydd Y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, Amgylchedd a Materion Gwledig

Trwy Ebost yn unig:
SeneddCCERA@assembly.wales

Annwyl Mike

Egwyddorion a Threfniadau Llywodraethu Amgylcheddol yng Nghymru ar ol
Ymadael &r UE

Diolch i chi am eich llythyr dyddiedig Mai 8fed.

Ar 6l gwerthuso fy hun ag ymgynghoriad Llywodraeth Cymru, rwy’n siwr y croesawir
unrhyw gamau i ddiogelu a gwella trefniadau llywodraethu amgylcheddol yng
Nghymru ar 6l Brexit. Rwyf hefyd yn falch bod yr ymgynghoriad yn cyfeirio at
strwythurau llywodraethu sefydledig, gan gynnwys fy swyddfa.

Mewn egwyddor, cytunaf fod bwich rheoleiddiol yn deillio o Brexit. Fodd bynnag, o
ran cwynion unigol am anghyfiawnder personol sy’n effeithio ar ddinesyddion
Cymru, bydd fy swyddfa yn parhau fel y corff priodol i ystyried cwynion am Gyfoeth
Naturiol Cymru (CNC), awdurdodau lleol neu Lywodraeth Cymru.

Os bydd Llywodraeth Cymru yn sefydlu corff newydd yn y maes hwn, bydd hyn yn
effeithio ar ein pwerau gan fod Llywodraeth Cymru yn ein hawdurdodaeth. Byddwn
yn disgwyl i unrhyw gorff newydd gael ei restru yn Atodlen 3 o’r Ddeddf
Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol Cymru, fel y mae CNC a Llywodraeth
Cymru ar hyn o bryd. Rwy’n ymwybodol bod y Swyddfa arfaethedig ar gyfer
Amddiffyn yr Amgylchedd (OEP) yn Lloegr yn cynnwys darpariaethau i'r corff
newydd fod yn awdurdodaeth y Comisiynydd Seneddol ac y bu deialog barhaus
rhwng DEFRA a’r PHSO.

Mae’r mater ehangach sy’n ymwneud a Brexit a threfniadau llywodraethu mewn
meysydd polisi, sydd & chymhwysedd rhanedig ar hyn o bryd rhwng comisiwn yr UE
ac Aelod Wladwriaethau/ Llywodraethau Datganoledig, yn rhywbeth sy’'n cael ei

Tud1lo2

Tlﬂﬂglghlcgf %’é)eiynargs Wales | Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru

1Ffordd yr Hen Gae, Pencoed CF35 5L)
G 01656 641150 = 01656 641199 5% ask@ombudsman-wales.orguk () www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk

=



drafod yn rheolaidd gyda phob Grwp Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus
Cymru yn y DU, yn ogystal &r Ombwdsmon Ewropeaidd. Er mai mater i'r
llywodraeth/au yw mecanweithiau atebolrwydd ar 61 Brexit, mae gennym gyd-
ddioddordeb mewn sicrhau bod pa bynnag fecanwaith sydd ar waith ar 6l Brexit mor
glir & phosibl i'r dinesydd.

Rwy’n cael cyfarfodydd rheolaidd & Swyddogion Llywodraeth Cymru ynglyn a
materion cwynion, ond nid ydym wedi trafod y mater hwn yn uniongyrchol. Rwyf
wedi gofyn i'r Ombwdsmon Ewropeaidd am unrhyw ddata sy’n deillio o Gymru ar
faterion amgylcheddol a byddaf yn hapus i rannu unrhyw ddata a allai fod o
ddefnydd i'ch pwyligor.

Credaf ei bod yn bwysig bod unrhyw ddiwygiadau yn y maes hwn yn llenwi unrhyw
fwich rheoleiddio amgylcheddol a ddaw i'r golwg, ond nad ydynt yn dyblygu
systemau gwyno presennol nag yn creu dryswch i'r dinesydd. Nodaf fod y papur
ymgynghori yn awgrymu (Tudalen 59) nad yw fy swyddfa yn canolbwyntio’n benodol
ar faterion amgylcheddol (sy’n gywir) ac efallai nad oes gennym yr arbenigedd
technegol ar gyfer materion amgylcheddol cymhleth. Mae fy swyddfa yn ystyried
cwynion am amrywiaeth eang o faterion cymhleth, gan gynnwys materion iechyd ac
amgylcheddol, ac mae fy staff yn gwbl alluog i ymdrin ag achosion technegol
cymhleth o’r fath. Fodd bynnag, nid oes gennyf rdl reoliadol, ac rwy’'n ystyried
cwynion unigol am anghyfiawnder personol sy’'n deillio o gamweinyddu neu fethiant
gwasanaeth. Ychwanegaf, er fy mod yn gallu cwestiynu barn broffesiynol mewn
materion iechyd a gofal cymdeithasol, ni allaf wneud hynny mewn materion
amgylcheddol. Mae hyn, ynghyd a’r ffaith mai fy rél yw ystyried anghyfiawnder
personol, efallai yn atgyfnerthu’r angen am reolydd yn y maes hwn i ymdrin a
phryderon amgylcheddol ehangach - ee. Gan griwp lobio.

Byddaf yn ymateb i Lywodraeth Cymru ar hyd y llinellau hyn, a byddaf hefyd yn
hapus i gydweithio & Llywodraeth Cymru fel bod unrhyw system gwyno yn y maes
polisi hwn yn canolbwyntio ar y dinesydd cymaint ag y bo modd. Diolch eto am ofyn
am fy marn.

Dymuniadau gorau.

Yn gywir

Nick Bennett
Ombwdsmon

Tud202

Tudalen y pecyn 64



Archwilydd Cyfir§ejpe pyr&LE

Auditor General for Wales

24 Cathedral Road / 24 Heol y Gadeirlan

Cardiff / Caerdydd

CF119LJ

Mr Mike Hedges AC Tel / Ffén: 029 2032 0500
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, Fax / Ffacs: 029 2032 0600
Amgylchedd a Materion Gwledig Textphone / Ffén testun: 029 2032 0660
Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru info@audit.wales / post@archwilio.cymru
Bae Caerdydd www.audit.wales / www.archwilio.cymru

Caerdydd CF99 1NA

Reference: AC/147/caf
Date issued: 4 Mehefin 2019

Annwyl Mike

Llywodraethu’r Amgylchedd ac Egwyddorion

Diolch i chi am eich llythyr dyddiedig 8 Mai 2019 lle rydych yn fy ngwahodd i roi fy
marn ynglyn a:

J cynigion Llywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer corff newydd i oruchwylio gweithredu
cyfreithiau amgylcheddol yng Nghymru, fel y’'u hamlinellwyd yn ei dogfen
ymgynghori, Egwyddorion a Threfniadau Llywodraethu Amgylcheddol yng
Nghymru yn dilyn Ymadael &r Undeb Ewropeaidd, a’'m barn yn neilltuol ar
oblygiadau’r cynigion ar gyfer cyflawni fy swyddogaethau i;

. lefel yr ymgysylltu fu rhwng Llywodraeth Cymru a’m swyddfa hyd yma
ynghylch y modd y gallai fy swyddogaeth ffitio gyda’r trefniadau llywodraethu
amgylcheddol newydd;

o unrhyw agwedd arall ar ymgynghoriad Llywodraeth Cymru, neu unrhyw
faterion eraill y cyfeirir atynt ym maes gorchwyl y Pwyllgor.

Rwyf yn mynd i’r afael &'r ymholiadau hyn isod. Yn gyntaf, fodd bynnag, tybiaf y
byddai’'n fuddiol pe bawn yn amlinellu’r gwahaniaethau rhwng archwilio ar y naill
law a rheoleiddio ar y llaw arall, gan fy mod yn credu ei bod yn bwysig i'r
gwahaniaethau hynny fod yn glir o’r cychwyn.

Y gwahaniaethau rhwng archwilio a rheoleiddio

Yn ei hanfod, mae archwilio yn fater o edrych yn fanwl ar gyfrifon a stiwardiaeth
adnoddau, yn cynnwys y trefniadau ar gyfer stiwardiaeth o’r fath, ac adrodd am
waith o'r fath er mwyn rhoi “sicrwydd” (yn golygu asesiad gwrthrychol, annibynnol).
Er y gall archwilydd adrodd, er enghraifft, bod gan gorff drefniadau gwael ar gyfer
sicrhau gwerth am arian, ac y gall roi argymhellion ar gyfer gwella’r trefniadau, nid

Page 1 of 7 - Annwyl Mike - please contact us in Welsh or English / cysylltwch & ni'’n Gymraeg
neu'n Saesneg. Tudalen y pecyn 65


mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/
http://www.archwilio.cymru/

swyddogaeth yr archwiliad yw gosod safonau na gorfodi safonau. Swyddogaethau
rheoleiddio yw'r rheiny.

Mae’n synhwyrol, fodd bynnag, i gydnabod bod yna rai pethau ymarferol,
cyffredinol yn debyg rhwng archwilio a rheoleiddio. Mae'r ddau yn fath o adolygiad
allanol, ac felly mae elfennau o brofiad a dysgu trosglwyddadwy sy’'n gyffredin i'r
ddau. Er hynny, mae’n bwysig peidio a gweld archwilio a rheoleiddio fel yr un
peth.

Cynigion Llywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer corff goruchwylio amgylcheddol
newydd a’r goblygiadau ar gyfer cyflawni fy swyddogaethau i

Nid wyf yn gweld problemau mawr yn codi o greu corff goruchwylio amgylcheddol
yn nhermau fy swyddogaethau i. Mae hyn yn bennaf oherwydd nad wyf yn gweld
bod gennyf rél uniongyrchol o ran llenwi'r bwich rheoleiddio amgylcheddol a
adewir gan Brexit. Er bod gennyf swyddogaeth dan Ddeddf Llesiant
Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol (Cymru) (2015) o asesu i ba raddau y mae cyrff
cyhoeddus wedi gweithredu yn unol ag egwyddor datblygiad cynaliadwy (DC) y
Ddeddf honno, wrth osod a dilyn amcanion llesiant, nid yw’r gweithgaredd hwnnw
yn croestorri &'r gwaith rheoleiddio a ddarperir ar hyn o bryd gan Gomisiwn yr
Undeb Ewropeaidd. Mae fy swyddogaeth archwilio i dan ddeddf 2015 yn ei hanfod
yn fater o adrodd ar y ffordd y mae amcanion yn cael eu gosod a’u dilyn, megis i
ba raddau y mae corff yn cymryd i ystyriaeth yr angen i atal problemau (gweler
adran 5 y Ddeddf, sy’n rhestru “pum ffordd o weithio”). Mae hyn yn hollol ar wahén
i weithgaredd rheoliadol Comisiwn yr UE, megis dwyn achos cyfreithiol yn erbyn
llywodraeth am fesurau annigonol i atal trosglwyddo gwastraff anghyfreithlon.

Mae fy swyddogaeth archwilio dan Ddeddf 2015 yn eithaf cyfyngedig. Nid yw fy
archwiliadau dan y Ddeddf hyd yn oed yn ymestyn i archwilio a yw cyrff wedi
gosod amcanion llesiant priodol, na pha un a yw'r amcanion hynny’n cael eu
cyflawni. (Swyddogaethau penodol Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol (CCD)
yw’r rheiny (adran 20(2) o Ddeddf 2015).) Nid yw fy swyddogaethau yn dod yn
agos o gwbl i'r gwaith rheoleiddio a gorfodi y mae Comisiwn yr UE yn ymgymryd
ag ef ar hyn o bryd.

Rwyf yn gweld, fodd bynnag, rhai goblygiadau i’'m gwaith archwilio o greu corff
cyhoeddus newydd yng Nghymru gyda swyddogaeth rheoleiddio amgylcheddol,
ond mae’r rhain yn debyg iawn i’r rhai ar gyfer unrhyw gorff cyhoeddus Cymreig
newydd. Bydd corff cyhoeddus Cymreig newydd bron yn sicr angen rhyw fath o
gyllid allan o arian cyhoeddus Cymru. Os yw’r Cynulliad i ddarparu cyllid, p’'un ai'n
uniongyrchol drwy gyflenwad o Gronfa Gyfunol Cymru ynteu’n anuniongyrchol o’r
Gronfa drwy Lywodraeth Cymru, byddai’n bwysig, o ran sicrwydd i'r Cynulliad bod
arian cyhoeddus yn cael ei ddefnyddio fel y bwriadwyd, i’r corff gael ei archwilio
gennyf i, a bod yna ddarpariaeth i mi osod adroddiadau gerbron y Cynulliad ar
gyfrifon y corff a’i stiwardiaeth ar adnoddau. Nid wyf yn credu y byddai archwiliad
newydd yn neilltuol o feichus.

Page 2 of 7 - Llywodraethu’r Amgylchedd ac Egwyddorion - Please contact us in Welsh or English /
Cysylltweh & ni'n Gymraeg neu'n SEeigkalen y pecyn 66



Dewis arall fyddai i’r Cynulliad benodi archwilydd masnachol. Fodd bynnag, nid yw
archwilwyr masnachol ar y cyfan yn gyfarwydd iawn & gofynion adrodd am
reoleidd-dra (sef bod arian yn cael ei ddefnyddio fel y’i bwriadwyd gany
Cynulliad), ac felly nid wyf yn meddwl bod hwn yn ddewis doeth.

Lefel ymgysylltiad Llywodraeth Cymru ynghylch y modd y gallai fy
swyddogaeth ffitio gyda’r trefniadau llywodraethu amgylcheddol newydd

Rwyf wedi ymateb i ddogfen ymgynghori Llywodraeth Cymru, ac amgaeaf gopi
o'm hymateb. A derbyn, fel y dywedwyd uchod, nad wyf yn gweld unrhyw
groestoriad problemus rhwng rheoleiddio amgylcheddol ac archwilio, nid wyf yn
sicr ei bod wedi bod yn neilltuol o angenrheidiol i Lywodraeth Cymru ymgysylitu a
mi yn benodol ynghylch creu’r rheoleiddiwr. Byddwn, fodd bynnag, yn croesawu
unrhyw ymgysylltiad cynnar ynghylch gwneud trefniadau archwilio priodol.

Barn am unrhyw agwedd arall ar ymgynghoriad Llywodraeth Cymru, a
materion eraill ym maes gorchwyl y Pwyllgor.

Er nad wyf wedi archwilio systemau rheoleiddio yn benodol mewn unrhyw
ddyfnder hyd yma, tybiaf y byddai efallai’'n fuddiol i amlinellu, ar sail profiad
ehangach o drefniadau adolygu, rai pethau a ddylai nodweddu trefn reoleiddio
synhwyrol yn y dyfodol.

Osgoi sefyllfa lle mae swyddogaethau nifer o gyrff yn gorgyffwrdd neu’n cydgloi

Mae swyddogaethau sy’n gorgyffwrdd yn amlwg mewn perygl o achosi
aneffeithlonrwydd, ond mae swyddogaethau sy’n cydgloi yn gallu arwain at
ddryswch hefyd, dyblygu ac aneffeithlonrwydd. Byddai trefn reoleiddio synhwyrol
yn osgoi sefylifa o'r fath.

Fel enghraifft, mae fy swyddogaeth archwilio dan Ddeddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r
Dyfodol (Cymru) 2015 yn cydgloi & swyddogaethau Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau'r
Dyfodol (CCD), fel y crybwyllwyd uchod. Er bod yna, mewn egwyddor,
arwahanrwydd clir rhwng swyddogaeth CCD ar y naill law, yn monitro ac yn asesu
cynnydd tuag at gwrdd ag amcanion llesiant, a swyddogaeth yr archwilydd ar y
llaw arall yn asesu i ba raddau y mae cyrff wedi gweithredu yn unol ag egwyddor
DC, nid yw’'n syndod bod yr arwahanrwydd hwn yn anodd ei gynnal.

Yn fy ngwaith archwilio, byddaf yn anochel yn adolygu cynnydd ar gamau
gweithredu a gymerwyd i gyrraedd amcanion llesiant, tra bo’'n asesu i ba raddau y
mae’r egwyddor o Ddatblygiad Cynaliadwy wedi cael ei dilyn wrth gymryd y
camau gweithredu hynny. Yn yr un modd, mae’n anochel bod gwaith Comisiynydd
Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol i adolygu “p’'un a yw corff wedi gosod amcanion llesiant ac
wedi cymryd camau i'w cyrraedd yn unol ag egwyddor datblygiad cynaliadwy” yn
golygu edrych ar yr un dystiolaeth & phan fydd Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru’'n
asesu “i ba raddau” y mae’r amcanion a osodwyd a’r camau a gymerwyd yn
cydymffurfio ag egwyddor DC.

Page 3 of 7 - Llywodraethu’r Amgylchedd ac Egwyddorion - Please contact us in Welsh or English /
Cysylltweh & ni'n Gymraeg neu'n Saesfaddalen y pecyn 67



Yn ymarferol, rydym wedi ceisio lleihau’r posibilrwydd o ddyblygu gwaith (a
lleihau’r baich ar gyrff cyhoeddus) drwy, er enghraifft, drefnu gwaith maes ar y cyd
gyda Chomisiynydd Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol er mwyn cyflawni ein gwahanol
ddyletswyddau yr un pryd. Fe wnaeth Archwilydd Cyffredinol blaenorol Cymru a
Chomisiynydd Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol gytuno ar femorandwm o ddealltwriaeth yn
esbonio sut y byddent yn ceisio cyflawni eu dyletswyddau mewn ffordd ategol.
Mae staff Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru a staff Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol
hefyd yn cyfarfod yn rheolaidd i drafod sut i gyd-drefnu eu gweithgareddau. Mae
cost, fodd bynnag, ynghlwm wrth yr ymdrechion hyn i gyd-drefnu. Maent hefyd yn
achosi problemau posibl o ran sicrhau annibyniaeth archwilio, gan mai fi yw
archwilydd CCD.

Osgoi cyfuno swyddogaethau cynghori a swyddogaethau adolygu yn yr un corff

Mae cyfuno swyddogaethau cynghori gyda swyddogaethau adolygu mewn un
corff yn tueddu i arwain at wrthdaro buddiannau yn ymddangosiadol, os nad yn
wirioneddol, ac yn lleihau ymddiriedaeth yn y swyddogaethau adolygu. Mae hyn
yn amlwg oddi wrth yr argyfwng mewn archwilio masnachol lle mae gwaith
cynghori yn cael ei weld fel rhywbeth sydd wedi tynnu oddi wrth y gwaith archwilio
statudol, neu wedi tanseilio’n wirioneddol drylwyredd gwaith archwilio o'r fath.
(Gweler, er enghraifft, https://www.theguardian.com/news/2018/may/29/the-
financial-scandal-no-one-is-talking-about-big-four-accountancy-firms.)

Mae’r perygl o danseilio gwrthrychedd drwy ddarparu gwasanaethau cynghori yn
cael ei esbonio yn yr ‘Ethical Standard’ yn 2016 a gyhoeddwyd gan y Cyngor
Adrodd Ariannol. Er bod y Safon honno yn benodol ar gyfer archwilio, mae llawer
o’r egwyddorion yn drosglwyddadwy. Yn fy marn i, bydd system adolygu resymol
yn osgoi rhoi swyddogaethau cynghori i gorff adolygu.

Osgoi amlhad swyddogaethau ac egwyddorion mewn system adolygu

Mae cynyddu nifer y swyddogaethau a’r egwyddorion mewn system (a’u gor-
ragnodi) yn tueddu i lesteirio gweithredu’n effeithlon ac yn effeithiol. Bydd system
adolygu synhwyrol yn osgoi amlhad o'r fath ac yn canolbwyntio ar nifer fechan o
egwyddorion allweddol.

Mae’r angen i osgoi amlhad fel hyn wedi bod yn amlwg o’n profiad ni ein hunain
gyda Mesur Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2009. Er enghraifft, mae adran 15(2) o'r
Mesur yn ei gwneud yn ofynnol i awdurdodau gwella Cymru' adrodd ar faterion
penodol niferus bob blwyddyn (gweler y blwch dros y dudalen am fanylion). At
hynny, mae pump isadran bellach o adran 15 yn gosod gofynion cyhoeddi
penodol.

T Ar hyn o bryd cynghorau sir a bwrdeistrefi sirol, awdurdodau’r parc cenedlaethol ac awdurdodau
tan.

Page 4 of 7 - Llywodraethu’r Amgylchedd ac Egwyddorion - Please contact us in Welsh or English /
Cysylltweh & ni'n Gymraeg neu'n SEeigkalen y pecyn 68


https://www.theguardian.com/news/2018/may/29/the-financial-scandal-no-one-is-talking-about-big-four-accountancy-firms
https://www.theguardian.com/news/2018/may/29/the-financial-scandal-no-one-is-talking-about-big-four-accountancy-firms

| gyd-fynd &’r gofynion hyn ar awdurdodau, mae adran 17 y Mesur yn gofyn i’r
Archwilydd Cyffredinol “archwilio” pob awdurdod o ran y graddau y mae’n
cydymffurfio ag adran 15. Mae hyn yn eistedd ochr yn ochr & dyletswydd yr
Archwilydd Cyffredinol i asesu cydymffurfiaeth & dyletswydd gwelliant cyffredinol
a’r holl ddyletswyddau penodol amrywiol yn Rhan 1 y Mesur, ac adrodd am y
gwaith hwn i gyd bob blwyddyn. Ymhellach, mae holl waith y Mesur yn eistedd
ochr yn ochr ag archwilio cyfrifon dan Ddeddf Archwilio Cyhoeddus (Cymru) 2004,
sy’n cynnwys dyletswydd i ystyried trefniadau ar gyfer sicrhau darbodaeth,
effeithlonrwydd ac effeithiolrwydd (sy’n ymwneud a llawer o'r materion sy’n ofynnol
dan y Mesur), yn ogystal &r angen am archwiliadau dan Ddeddf Llesiant
Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol (Cymru) 2015.

Ary cyfan, mae’r swyddogaethau a’r egwyddorion niferus a osodwyd gan Fesur
2009 wedi peri bod gwaith gwella perfformiad yn cael ei weld yn feichus ac yn
fiwrocrataidd gan rai awdurdodau. Yr un pryd, nid yw'n glir bod gofynion gwella
perfformiad y Mesur wedi arwain at welliant mewn gwirionedd ym mherfformiad
awdurdodau, er ei bod yn anodd nodi union effeithiau a derbyn yr amgylchedd
cymhleth y mae llywodraeth leol yn gweithredu ynddo, yn enwedig gyda
gostyngiadau mewn cyllid.

Page 5 of 7 - Llywodraethu’r Amgylchedd ac Egwyddorion - Please contact us in Welsh or English /
Cysylltweh & ni'n Gymraeg neu'n Saesfaddalen y pecyn 69



Adran 15(2) o Fesur Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2009; esiampl o nifer ormodol o
swyddogaethau a gor-ragnodi

(2) Rhaid i'r awdurdod wneud trefniadau ar gyfer cyhoeddi -
(a) asesiad yr awdurdod o’i berfformiad yn ystod blwyddyn ariannol -
(i) o ran cyflawni ei ddyletswydd dan adran 2;

(ii) o ran cwrdd &’r amcanion gwella y mae wedi eu gosod iddo’i hun dan adran 3 sy’n
berthnasol i'r flwyddyn honno;

(iii) mewn perthynas a dangosyddion perfformiad a bennwyd dan adran 8(1)(a) a
dangosyddion perfformiad a osododd arno’i hun sy’n berthnasol i'r flwyddyn honno;

(iv) o ran cyrraedd safonau perfformiad a bennwyd dan adran 8(1)(b) a safonau
perfformiad a osododd arno’i hun sy’n berthnasol i’'r flwyddyn honno;

(b) asesiad yr awdurdod o’i berfformiad o ran arfer ei swyddogaethau yn ystod blwyddyn
ariannol o gymharu a -

(i) ei berfformiad mewn blynyddoedd ariannol blaenorol; a

(ii) cyn belled ag y bo’n rhesymol ymarferol, y perfformiad yn ystod y flwyddyn honno a
blynyddoedd ariannol blaenorol awdurdodau gwella eraill yng Nghymru ac awdurdodau
cyhoeddus eraill (i'r graddau y mae'r awdurdodau hynny yn arfer swyddogaethau tebyg
i’r rhai a arferir gan yr awdurdod);

(c) manylion y ffyrdd y mae’r awdurdod yn ystod blwyddyn ariannol wedi arfer ei bwerau o
gydweithredu i’r diben o gyflawni neu hwyluso cyflawni ei ddyletswyddau dan adrannau 2(1),
3(2) ac 8(7) yn ystod y flwyddyn honno;

(d) manylion y wybodaeth a gasglwyd dan adran 13 gyda golwg ar flwyddyn ariannol a'r hyny
mae’r awdurdod wedi ei wneud i gyflawni ei ddyletswyddau dan adran 14 mewn perthynas a'r
flwyddyn honno.

Trefniadau cyllido a llywodraethu sy’n sicrhau digon o annibyniaeth ac yn osgoi
cymhelliant croes

Gwyddom o brofiad bod angen i drefniadau cyllido a llywodraethu sicrhau
annibyniaeth ddigonol ac osgoi cymhelliant croes. Er enghraifft, cyn 2014, cai
astudiaethau ar gyfer gwella darbodaeth ayb a gwasanaethau mewn cyrff
llywodraeth leol (astudiaethau o dan adran 41 o Ddeddf Archwilio Cyhoeddus
(Cymru) 2004) eu cyllido drwy ffioedd i awdurdodau lleol. Roedd yn amlwg oddi
wrth drafodaethau gydag awdurdodau lleol nad oeddent yn rhy frwd o blaid
astudiaethau o'r fath, gan gynnwys yr effaith a gaent ar eu ffioedd archwilio, ac y
byddai’n well ganddynt i nifer a chwmpas astudiaethau felly fod gyn lleied ag y bo
modd. Ers 2014, mae astudiaethau llywodraeth leol wedi cael eu cyllido o Gronfa
Gyfunol Cymru. Mae hyn wedi ei gwneud yn bosibl cael deialog fwy adeiladol
gydag awdurdodau, ac felly wedi bod o gymorth i gynllunio astudiaethau er mwyn
cael ffocws cliriach ar y meysydd o berygl sylweddol i werth am arian.

Page 6 of 7 - Llywodraethu’r Amgylchedd ac Egwyddorion - Please contact us in Welsh or English /
Cysylltweh & ni'n Gymraeg neu'n SEeigkalen y pecyn 70



Yn yr un modd, mae’n bwysig i gyrff gael adnoddau digonol i'w galluogi i arfer eu
swyddogaethau. Nodai adroddiad fy rhagflaenydd, Datblygiad Cyfoeth Naturiol
Cymru, Chwefror 2016, fod CNC wedi wynebu heriau o ddiffyg capasiti a gallu ar
gyfer y swyddogaethau a roddwyd iddo (gweler tudalen 16). Mae gwaith archwilio
dilynol wedi canfod fod CNC wedi ymgodymu & phroblemau rheoleidd-dra wrth
arfer ei swyddogaethau coedwigaeth. Ni ddylid tanamcangyfrif cost sefydliad neu
system newydd, fel y canfu fy rhagflaenydd, er enghraifft, yn ei Adolygiad o
Asesiad Effaith Rheoliadol Bil Llesiant Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol (Cymru), Rhagfyr
2014.

Hawliau mynediad cadarn

Mae hawliau mynediad cadarn yn hanfodol ar gyfer gwaith adolygu effeithlon ac
effeithiol. Er nad yw'r ddeddfwriaeth sy’n llywodraethu gwaith yr Archwilydd
Cyffredinol yn berffaith, un 0’i chryfderau mawr yw’r hawliau mynediad mae’n eu
rhoi. Mae’r hawliau mynediad hyn wedi galluogi'r Archwilydd Cyffredinol i
archwilio’n drylwyr y defnydd o arian cyhoeddus a ymddiriedwyd i endidau yn y
sector preifat a'r sector gwirfoddol. Er enghraifft, mae hawliau mynediad yr
Archwilydd Cyffredinol dan baragraff 17 o Atodlen 8 i Ddeddf LIlywodraeth Cymru
2006 yn ei alluogi i archwilio cofnodion contractwyr y GIG, megis deintyddion ac
optegwyr. Nid oes gan y byrddau iechyd lleol hyd yn oed, sy’n talu i gontractwyr
o'r fath, hawliau mynediad tebyg. O ganlyniad, gall yr Archwilydd Cyffredinol
edrych i mewn i faterion megis gwrth-dwyll yn llawer mwy effeithiol ac effeithlon na
chyrff y GIG ei hun.

Byddai fy nghydweithwyr a minnau yn hapus i gynorthwyo’r Pwyllgor ymhellach, a
gobeithiaf fod y deunydd hwn o gymorth i chi.

Yn gywir

ADRIAN CROMPTON
Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru

Page 7 of 7 - Llywodraethu’r Amgylchedd ac Egwyddorion - Please contact us in Welsh or English /
Cysylltweh & ni'n Gymraeg neu'n Saesfaddalen y pecyn 71



Egwyddorion a Threfniadau Llywodraethu
Amgylcheddol yng Nghymru ar 6l Ymadael a'r UE

Ffurflen Ymateb i’r Eich enw: Adrian Crompton
Ymgynghoriad Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru

Sefydliad (lle bo’n berthnasol):

E-bost / rhif ffon:
SwyddfaArchwilioCymru@archwilio.cymru

Eich cyfeiriad: 24 Heol y Gadeirlan, Caerdydd
CF119LJ

Dyddiad cau'r ymgynghoriad yw 9 Mehefin 2019.
Ysgrifennwch aton ni:

Adran yr Amgylchedd, Ynni a Materion Gwledig
Uned Ymadael a'r UE a Strategaeth,
Llywodraeth Cymru,

Llawr 1af Dwyrain, Parc Cathays 2,

Caerdydd

CF10 3NQ

neu ebostiwch

Llywodraethiant.Amgylcheddol@llyw.cymru

Tudalen y pecyn 72


mailto:SwyddfaArchwilioCymru@archwilio.cymru

Eqwyddorion Amgylcheddol

Cwestiwn 1: Ydych chi'n cytuno y dylai'r egwyddorion canlynol gael eu cynnwys
mewn deddfwriaeth i Gymru?

Os yw Llywodraeth Cymru’n dymuno cael trefniadau ar gyfer Cymru sy’n darparu
llywodraeth debyg i’r safon a ddarperir ar hyn o bryd gan Gomisiwn yr Undeb
Ewropeaidd (a fyddai’n ymddangos yn briodol), yna ystyriaf fod angen cynnwys yr
egwyddorion hyn yn y ddeddfwriaeth ar gyfer Cymru.

Cwestiwn 2: A ydych chi'n credu bod yna egwyddorion eraill y dylid eu cynnwys?

Eto, os yw Llywodraeth Cymru’n dymuno cael trefniadau ar gyfer Cymru sy’n darparu
llywodraeth debyg i’r safon a ddarperir ar hyn o bryd gan Gomisiwn yr Undeb
Ewropeaidd, yna dylai'r egwyddor Rhagofal fod wedi ei chynnwys yn eglur (ac, er mwyn
sicrhau cysondeb, gyda chyfeiriad at ddehongliad Comisiwn yr Undeb Ewropeaidd). Nid
wyf wedi cael fy argyhoeddi gan ddadansoddiad Llywodraeth Cymru fod egwyddor
Rhagofal wedi ei chynnwys eisoes yn neddfwriaeth Cymru. Rwyf yn cydnabod bod yna rai
pethau’n debyg rhwng egwyddorion Rheolaeth Gynaliadwy ar Adnoddau Naturiol (a
eglurir yn adran 4 o Ddeddf yr Amgylchedd (Cymru) 2016) ac egwyddor Rhagofal (a
eglurwyd yn Erthygl 191 y Cytundeb ar Weithrediad yr Undeb Ewropeaidd (TFEU) ac a
eglurwyd yn Cyfathrebu (COM 2000) - er enghraifft, son am ansicrwydd. Fodd bynnag,
mae yna wahaniaethau sylweddol hefyd. Er enghraifft, mae COM 2000 yn mynegi amod
ragarweiniol benodol o adnabod effeithiau anffafriol posibl. Mae hefyd yn datgan
egwyddorion hysbysu penodol, gan gynnwys gwerthuso risg, ac mae’n rhoi pwyslais clir
ar benderfynu’r radd o ansicrwydd gwyddonol.

Mae’n ymddangos y bydd egwyddor Rhagofal wedi ei chynnwys yn glir yn neddfwriaeth
y DU. Mae adran 16 o Ddeddf yr Undeb Ewropeaidd (Ymadael) 2018 eisoes yn ei gwneud
yn ofynnol i’r Ysgrifennydd Gwladol gyflwyno deddfwriaeth sy’n darparu ar gyfer cynnal
egwyddor Rhagofal. Byddai, felly, yn anffodus pe bai deddfwriaeth Cymru yn llai eglur a
thrylwyr na deddfwriaeth y DU.

Cwestiwn 3: Ydych chi'n cytuno y dylai'r ddyletswydd i reoli adnoddau naturiol yn
gynaliadwy ac i gymhwyso egwyddorion SMNR gael ei hestyn?

Byddai’n ymddangos yn briodol i sicrhau bod yr egwyddorion a fynegwyd yn Erthygl 191
o’r TFEU yn cael eu cymhwyso. Fel y crybwyllwyd yn yr ateb i Gwestiwn 2, nid wyf wedi
fy argyhoeddi bod cymhwyso egwyddorion SMNR yn cael yr union effaith honno.

Tudalen y pecyn 73



Cwestiwn 4: Pa gyrff cyhoeddus o Gymru sy'n gyfrifol am faes lle y mae
cymhwysedd wedi ei ddatganoli ddylai fod & dyletswydd i reoli adnoddau naturiol yn
gynaliadwy?

Gwelwch yr atebion i Gwestiynau 2 a 3. Fel yr wyf yn deall, mae Erthygl 191 o’r TFEU yn
berthnasol i bob corff cyhoeddus fel cyrff sydd wedi tarddu o’r wladwriaeth. Os mai’r
bwriad yw darparu trefniadau tebyg, bydd angen ailadrodd hyn.

Atebolrwydd

Cwestiwn 5: Ydych chi'n cytuno a'r bylchau sydd wedi'u nodi neu a ydych chi'n credu
bod angen ystyried bylchau eraill?

Yn ei hanfod, ydw, rwyf yn cytuno &’r bylchau a nodwyd. Fel yr wyf yn deall, mae’r
bylchau’n adlewyrchu swyddogaeth Comisiwn yr Undeb Ewropeaidd.

Cwestiwn 6: Pa rél ddylai cyrff atebolrwydd ei chwarae mewn strwythur llywodraethu
amgylcheddol newydd yng Nghymru?

Er mai dim ond ategiad fyddai i lywodraeth amgylcheddol, rwyf yn ystyried y byddai’n
briodol i Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru archwilio cyfrifon unrhyw gorff cyhoeddus
Cymreig newydd. Dylai swyddogaeth yr Archwilydd Cyffredinol o ran y corff gynnwys
ystyried y trefniadau ar gyfer sicrhau darbodaeth, effeithlonrwydd ac effeithiolrwydd, ac
ystyried rheoleidd-dra gwariant. Rwyf yn meddw! hefyd y byddai’n briodol i’r Archwilydd
Cyffredinol gael y grym i gynnal archwiliadau o ddarbodaeth, effeithlonrwydd ac
effeithiolrwydd. Dylai'r Archwilydd Cyffredinol adrodd wrth y Cynulliad am yr holl
swyddogaethau hyn, er mwyn ei gwneud yn bosibl i'r Cynulliad gael sicrwydd bod
adnoddau’n cael eu stiwardio’n briodol.

Mae’r swyddogaethau hynny, fodd bynnag, yn ymwneud &’r defnydd o adnoddau
ariannol, yn enwedig adnoddau a ddarparwyd gan y Cynulliad, yn hytrach na materion o
lywodraeth amgylcheddol fel y cyfryw. Mae’r asesiad ym mharagraff 3.20 y ddogfen
ymgynghori yn gywir, sef nad yw’r Archwilydd Cyffredinol na’r Ombwdsmon
Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus yn gyfrifol am graffu ar weithrediad cyfraith amgylcheddol. Yn
yr un modd, nid yw Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol (CCD) yn gyfrifol am graffu ar
weithrediad cyfraith amgylcheddol. Dylai hyn gael ei gydnabod yn fwy clir o bosibl
ynghyd & natur gyffredinol Deddf Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol (Cymru) 2015, fel y
tanlinellwyd yn achos Cymer Afan.

Dylwn nodi fy mod yn cytuno &'r barnau a adlewyrchir yn mharagraff 15 o adroddiad y
Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, Amgylchedd a Materion Gwledig nad yw Cyfoeth Naturiol
Cymru na Chomisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol yn gyrff priodol i lenwi’r bylchau a
adewir drwy ymadael a’r Undeb Ewropeaidd —y byddai angen newid sylfaenol i'w
swyddogaethau, ac nad oedd ganddynt ddigon o adnoddau. Nodai adroddiad fy
rhagflaenydd, Datblygiad Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru, Chwefror 2016, fod CNC wedi wynebu

Tudalen y pecyn 74



heriau o ddiffyg capasiti a gallu ar gyfer y swyddogaethau a roddwyd iddo (gweler
tudalen 16). Mae gwaith archwilio dilynol wedi canfod fod CNC wedi ymgodymu &
phroblemau rheoleidd-dra wrth arfer ei swyddogaethau coedwigaeth.

Cwestiwn 7: A yw'r rél a'r nod a ddisgrifir yn briodol i gorff sy'n gyfrifol am
oruchwylio'r ffordd y mae cyfraith amgylcheddol yn cael ei rhoi ar waith yng
Nghymru?

Yn gyffredinol, rwyf yn meddwl bod y rél a amlinellir yn briodol, ond gyda’r eithriad
sylweddol o weithredu mewn swyddogaeth gynghori. Mae cael swyddogaeth benodol o
gynghori yn bygwth tanseilio’r swyddogaethau rheoliadol. Mae cyfuno swyddogaethau
cynghori gyda swyddogaethau adolygu mewn un corff yn tueddu i arwain at wrthdaro
buddiannau yn ymddangosiadol, os nad yn wirioneddol, ac yn lleihau ymddiriedaeth yn'y
swyddogaethau adolygu. Mae hyn yn amlwg oddi wrth yr argyfwng mewn archwilio
masnachol lle mae gwaith cynghori yn cael ei weld fel rhywbeth sydd wedi tynnu oddi
wrth y gwaith archwilio statudol, neu wedi tanseilio’n wirioneddol drylwyredd gwaith
archwilio o'r fath. (Gweler, er enghraifft,
https://www.theguardian.com/news/2018/may/29/the-financial-scandal-no-one-is-
talking-about-big-four-accountancy-firms.)

Fel yr wyf yn deall ei weithgareddau, mae Comisiwn yr Undeb Ewropeaidd yn gosod
strategaeth ac yn dehongli ei egwyddorion, ond nid yw yn gweithredu mewn
swyddogaeth o roi cyngor i gyrff cyhoeddus.

Cwestiwn 8: Pa feysydd polisi y dylid eu cynnwys o fewn cwmpas y trefniadau
llywodraethu newydd?

Mae’r rhestr a roddir yn y ddogfen ymgynghori, fel a geir yn adran 2 o Ddeddf yr
Amgylchedd (Cymru) 2016, yn ymddangos yn lle rhesymol i gychwyn. Efallai y byddai’n
werth egluro bod y cwmpas yn cynnwys y rhyngweithio rhwng yr eitemau a restrwyd ag
eitemau eraill, megis swn, ymbelydredd, gwastraff, allyriadau, gollyngiadau a phethau
eraill sy’n cael eu rhyddhau i’r amgylchedd. Efallai y byddai’n ddefnyddiol hefyd i egluro
bod y rhyngweithio rhwng polisiau cyhoeddus a’r amgylchedd o fewn y cwmpas.

Cwestiwn 9: Ydych chi'n credu bod y rhestr o gyrff a gynigir yn briodol?

Mae'r rhestr ynddi ei hun yn ymddangos yn rhesymol ymarferol, ond edrychwch ar yr
ateb i Gwestiwn 4, os gwelwch yn dda. Yn ychwanegol at y pwynt cyffredinol ei bod yn
briodol i’r holl gyrff cyhoeddus gael eu cynnwys, byddwn yn awgrymu, pe defnyddid
rhestr ddethol, bod ystyriaeth yn cael ei rhoi i gynnwys awdurdodau'r parc cenedlaethol
a Thrafnidiaeth Cymru.

Tudalen y pecyn 75


https://www.theguardian.com/news/2018/may/29/the-financial-scandal-no-one-is-talking-about-big-four-accountancy-firms
https://www.theguardian.com/news/2018/may/29/the-financial-scandal-no-one-is-talking-about-big-four-accountancy-firms

Cwestiwn 10: Ydych chi'n credu bod yna gyrff Cymreig eraill a ddylai hefyd ddod o
dan gylch gwaith y corff?

Ydw. Gwelwch yr ateb i gwestiwn 4

Cwestiwn 11: Beth ddylai statws, ffurf a chyfansoddiad corff goruchwylio fod?

Rwyf yn cytuno a’r awgrym y dylai'r corff fod yn atebol i'r Cynulliad Cenedlaethol yn
hytrach na Llywodraeth Cymru. Mae hyn yn debyg i’r trefniadau ar gyfer archwilio
cyhoeddus, sy’n ofynnol er mwyn gwrthrychedd, i fod yn annibynnol o Lywodraeth
Cymru.

Rwyf yn cytuno hefyd, fel y dywedwyd yng Nghwestiwn 6, y dylai’r corff gael ei archwilio
gan yr Archwilydd Cyffredinol. Ymhellach, rwyf yn cytuno y dylai fod gan y corff
drefniadau penodi annibynnol a chyllid annibynnol (heb fod yn ddibynnol ar Lywodraeth
Cymru).

Cwestiwn 12: A ddylai corff goruchwylio gael gweithredu fel corff cynghori hefyd?

Fel y dywedwyd uchod yng Nghwestiwn 7, na.

Cwestiwn 13: A ddylai corff goruchwylio gael craffu ar y modd y rhoddir deddfwriaeth
amgylcheddol ar waith?

Dylai. Nid oes corff arall yn bodoli (ac eithrio Comisiwn yr UE) sy’n benthyg ei hun i’r
swyddogaeth hon.

Cwestiwn 14: Beth fyddai hyd a lled y swyddogaeth hon?

Dengys profiad o archwilio bod angen i'r swyddogaeth gael ei chefnogi a hawliau
mynediad da, fel y dywedwyd yn y ddogfen ymgynghori.

Gyda golwg ar adolygiadau thematig, rwyf yn meddwl ei bod yn bwysig i swyddogaeth
o'r fath fod wedi ei diffinio’n glir fel ei bod yn cefnogi gosod a gorfodi safonau
amgylcheddol. Byddai swyddogaeth adolygu thematig rhy eang yn bygwth gorgyffwrdd,
er enghraifft, 8 swyddogaethau’r CCD ac efallai y byddai’'n bygwth glastwreiddio’r ffocws
ar fonitro a gorfodi safonau amgylcheddol.

Tudalen y pecyn 76



Cwestiwn 15: Pa bwerau ddylai corff feddu arnyn nhw i allu ymchwilio i gwynion gan
aelodau'r cyhoedd am fethiant honedig corff cyhoeddus i roi cyfraith amgylcheddol ar
waith?

Mae'r awgrymiadau o bwerau i gynnal ymchwiliadau ac yn y blaen, a osodwyd yn y
ddogfen ymgynghori, yn ymddangos yn ffyrdd rhesymol o fynd i’r afael &'r bwich a
adewir pan na fydd y Comisiwn yr UE yn gweithredu ar ran Cymru. Er ei bod yn
ymddangos yn briodol y dylai fod yn ofynnol i gorff newydd ganiatau cyfnod rhesymol o
amser i weithdrefnau cwyno cyrff cyhoeddus presennol weithredu a darparu datrysiad,
nid wyf yn meddwl y dylai gweithdrefnau o'r fath gael gohirio ymchwiliadau’r corff
newydd yn sylweddol.

Mewn cymhariaeth, rwyf yn meddwl bod Deddf Rhyddid Gwybodaeth 2000 ynghyd a
chanllawiau’r Comisiynydd Gwybodaeth yn cynnig model synhwyrol, gan fod y
Comisiynydd fel rheol yn disgwyl i achwynwyr weithio drwy weithdrefnau adolygu cyrff
cyhoeddus yn gyntaf, ond cyfyngu’r hyd o amser ar gyfer gweithdrefnau o’r fath yn
gyffredinol i 20 neu 40 o ddiwrnodiau gwaith. (Mae’n debyg bod y cyfnodau amser
hynny’n rhy fyr ar gyfer llawer o faterion amgylcheddol, ond credaf fod yr egwyddor yn
briodol). Mae hyn yn cyferbynnu a’r trefniadau a ddarperir i Gomisiynydd y Gymraeg, y
mae ei deddfwriaeth yn gofyn am ymchwiliad, waeth beth fo gweithdrefnau cwyno’r
cyrff cyhoeddus sy’n bod eisoes. Yn fy marn i, mae’r model hwnnw yn tueddu i arwain at
ddyblygu gormodol, ac eto heb arwain at ddatrysiad cyflymach.

Cwestiwn 16: Pa ddulliau gorfodi anffurfiol a ffurfiol ydych chi'n credu y dylai corff
goruchwylio eu cynnal er mwyn cyflawni ei rél a'i amcanion?

Rwyf yn ystyried y byddai efelychu’r mecanweithiau anffurfiol a ffurfiol a weithredir gan
Gomisiwn yr UE, cyn belled ag y bo hynny’n bosibl, yn ddull synhwyrol. Credaf, fodd
bynnag, ei bod yn bwysig peidio & llyffetheirio’r corff drwy osod dyletswydd i weithio ar y
cyd, heb i ddyletswydd o'r fath gael ei gwneud yn ddarostyngedig i ddisgresiwn y corff i
sicrhau gorfodaeth drwy’r dull y mae’n ystyried sydd fwyaf priodol. Byddai hepgor
blaenoriaethu dyletswyddau yn y modd hwn yn bygwth gwneud y corff yn aneffeithiol.

Cwestiwn 17: Pa gamau gorfodi yn eich barn chi ddylai fod ar gael?

Eto, efallai y bydd Deddf Rhyddid Gwybodaeth 2000 yn fodel defnyddiol. Dan y Ddeddf
honno, mae’r Comisiynydd Gwybodaeth yn adolygu achosion ac yn cyhoeddi
hysbysiadau am benderfyniadau a all, er enghraifft, orchymyn datgelu gwybodaeth. Gall
y naill barti neu’r llall apelio yn erbyn yr hysbysiadau hynny i’r Tribiwnlys Gwybodaeth.
Gellir apelio yn erbyn penderfyniadau’r Tribiwnlys i’r Uchel Lys, ond dim ond ar bwyntiau
cyfraith. Mae’r model hwn yn ymddangos fel pe bai’n cynnig dull rhesymol, hygyrch a
chost-effeithiol o ddelio a thoriadau honedig o’r Ddeddf Rhyddid Gwybodaeth. Byddai
cost ynghlwm wrth dribiwnlys cyfraith amgylcheddol wrth gwrs ond byddai’n ffordd o

Tudalen y pecyn 77



gael ystyriaeth arbenigol o doriadau honedig, heb gost sylweddol iawn adolygiad
barnwrol (yn y rhan fwyaf o achosion).

Eraill

Cwestiwn 18: A fyddai mantais rhannu set graidd o egwyddorion amgylcheddol
cyffredin?

Rwyf yn meddwl! y byddai manteision sylweddol o gael set graidd o egwyddorion
amgylcheddol cyffredin. Dylai egwyddorion cyffredin, er enghraifft, alluogi busnes i
ddeall gofynion ym mhob tiriogaeth yn rhwydd. Byddai hyn yn neilltuol o fuddiol i
fusnesau sy’n gweithredu ar draws y ffin. (Yn yr un modd, byddai manteision cryf mewn
cael set gyffredin o egwyddorion nid yn unig ar draws Cymru a Lloegr, ond hefyd gyda’r
UE, o ran dealltwriaeth busnes o ofynion cydymffurfio).

Rwyf yn meddwl ei bod yn bwysig peidio a gor-ddweud na chamddeall y gwahaniaethau
sy’n bodoli mewn llywodraeth amgylcheddol yng Nghymru. Nid yw’r gwahaniaethau yn
gyfryw fel bod rhaid sefydlu egwyddorion craidd gwahanol. Yn neilltuol, fel y dangoswyd
yng Nghwestiwn 6, nid oes a wnelo Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol (Cymru) 2015
a gorfodi safonau amgylcheddol. Yn hytrach, fframwaith ydyw ar gyfer cynllunio a
llywodraethu corfforaethol uchelgeisiol. Yn ei hanfod, mae’n gweithredu drwy annog
gwelliant yn hytrach na gorfodi safonau.

Cwestiwn 19: Pa strwythurau llywodraethu posib yn eich barn chi sydd eu hangen i
alluogi cydweithio a gwneud penderfyniadau ar y cyd er mwyn caniatau rhyngwyneb
rhwng gweinyddiaethau?

Nid wyf mewn sefyllfa i ateb y cwestiwn hwn.

Tudalen y pecyn 78



Eitem 5.4

Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cyrmiru for Wales

By email

07/06/2019
RE: Correspondence from the Chair of the Climate Change, Environment and Rural Affairs Committee |
Gohebiaeth gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, Amgylchedd a Materion Gwledig
Dear Mike Hedges AM,

Thank you for your letter dated 8 May 2019 regarding the Climate Change, Environment and Rural Affairs
Committee's inquiry into environmental governance and principles.

| agree that the potential environment governance gap post-Brexit needs to be addressed. We need to ensure
that we do not lose any protection we currently have from the EU framework but also from Welsh law and

we should take this as an opportunity to even raise the current level of protection whenever possible.

Contents of the law

It is important that post-Brexit we have arrangements in place which ensure that we are not losing any of the
overarching principles currently in place (for example the EU precautionary principle or the sustainable
development principle in Wales) in addition to the operating principles used every day in Wales through SMNR
and the five ways of working as set out in the Environment (Wales) Act and the Well-being of Future
Generations (Wales) Act, for example.

| am concerned that the government in England places the sustainable development principle on an equal footing
within their ‘environmental principles’ listed in Draft Clause 2 of the Draft Environment (Principles and
Governance) Bill.

Draft Clause 2 states:

In this Act “environmental principles” means the following principles—

(a) the precautionary principle, so far as relating to the environment,

(b) the principle of preventative action to avert environmental damage,

(c) the principle that environmental damage should as a priority be rectified at source,
(d) the polluter pays principle,

(e) the principle of sustainable development,

(f) the principle that environmental protection requirements must be integrated into the definition
and implementation of policies and activities,

(g) the principle of public access to environmental information,

(h) the principle of public participation in environmental decision-making, and

(i) the principle of access to justice in relation to environmental matters.

Comislynydd Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
SlambrauT | archrad, -7 Hag Li.:l"'"'f'-" Fanr Market Chambers, 5-7 5t Mary Straet
Caerdydd, CFLO 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

eysivitwohani@cenediae thaurdyfodol cymry ot Js‘.ﬂ'ﬂ.'l' anerationswales
cenedlasthaurdyfodol.cymru futur:ﬁ: éﬂﬁﬁ:‘l¥%ﬁe& n 79



Comisiynydd Future
Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Dyfodol Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

In Wales, the Sustainable Development Principle is overarching. Our concept of well-being is holistic. It brings
together the economy, society, environment and culture. Focusing only on the environment and having principles
only applying to the environment or treating the environment separately is not in line with our concept of well-
being in Wales. It is important to continue to look at wider and cross-cutting issues because all things impacting
on the environment are not necessarily environmental e.g. human mobility has a huge impact on the natural
environment. Equally, we already have protective operating principles such as SMNR and 5 ways of working
including prevention, integration, etc. in Welsh Law and any new (UK) principles should not go against them or
diminish their scope and depth. Equally some of the Welsh legal concepts might need amending as the
consultation points. For example, the precautionary principle does not appear as such in Welsh law but SMNR
principles ‘capture the key components’ of it as the consultation document states however, SMNR only applies to
Welsh Government and NRW and not to all public bodies nor to the private or third sector. This is why great care
needs to be taken to ensure the current level of protection is maintained and enhanced.

| understand that devolution is complex, but it is important that Wales does not operate post Brexit to any
principles which would dilute both the overarching and operating principles we currently enjoy now in
Wales within any post-Brexit UK, England and Wales or Wales only setting.

The principles set out in the Well-being of Future Generations Act should be used to design the new governance
system.

Governance

| am clear that whatever structure replaces the EU ones, they will need to be well-resourced, expert, independent
body which enjoys full enforcement powers which are no less that those currently available through the EU
institutions and the Court of Justice of the European Union.

It is important to continue to have a structure which can hold to account and sanction governments, public bodies
and ideally private companies too in cases of environmental law breaches. But it is essential that the holistic
concept of well-being with its four pillars is considered and protected here.

The new system must ensure that the different functions of advising on policy, monitoring progress and
sanctioning are still undertaken but this must be done in a way which takes into account the duties including
advising and supporting and monitoring and assessing of the Future Generations Commissioner.

| do not have particular views as to which organisation(s) or structure(s) is to be used or created it is essential that
it enhances rather than contradict existing structure, is expert, appropriately resourced, independent, easily
accessible by citizens.

Comislynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodal Cymru Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Slambrau’T Farchrad, 5-7 Heol Eghwys Fair Market Chambers, 5-7 5t Mary Street
Caerdydd, CF10 1AT Cardiff, CF10 1AT

eysivitwohani@cenediae thaurdyfodol cymry faciusgituregpnarations w
cenedlasthaurdyfodol.cymru ﬁ:@ﬂénnyw%%yﬁﬁgo



Comisiynydd Future

Cenedlaethau’r Generations

Dyfodol

| believe any new body or reformed body, or bodies should be more than a regulator and it must be able to
handle individual complains and be detached from government. | agree with the Public Services Ombudsman that
any proposed system should be citizen centred and of easy access. It is important once more that we do not lose
what we can currently enjoy within the EU framework and Welsh framework and seek to enhance the protection
given to the environment and the access to justice given to current and future generations.

| believe it is important to consider whether all the public bodies listed in the Well-being of Future Generations

Commissioner
Cyrmiru for Wales

Act should fall under the remit of new body and not only some of them.

Finally, the natural environment does not stop at human borders and it is important that the post-Brexit
arrangements work in the UK context made of several devolved nations and for the longer-term for both current

and future generations.

| will respond to the Welsh Government consultation in these terms.

Yours sincerely,

Sophie Howe

Future Generations Commissioner for Wales

Comisiynydd Future

Cenedlaethau’r Generations
Commissioner
Cymru for Wales

“ Dyfodol

Comislynydd Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol Cymru
Siamibrau’ Farchnad, 5-7 Heol Eghays Fair
Caerdydd, CFLO LAT
eysivitwohani@cenediae thaurdyfodol cymry
cenedlasthaurdyfodol.cymru

Future Generations Commissioner for Wales
Market Chambers, 5-7 5t Mary Streat
Cardiff, CF10 1AT

e LI, PEeyn 81



E|tem 8 Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42

Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 82



	Agenda
	4 Egwyddorion Amgylcheddol a Llywodraethu Amgylcheddol ar ôl Brexit – Sesiwn dystiolaeth 1
	Papur - Yr Athro Cowell, Dr Dobbs, Dr Petetin  (Saesneg yn unig)
	Papur - Gweithgor Cymdeithas Cyfraith Amgylcheddol y DU yng Nghymru  (Saesneg yn unig)

	5.1 Gohebiaeth gan Gomisiynydd Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol Cymru at y Cadeirydd – gwybodaeth ddilynol yn dilyn y cyfarfod ar 10 Ionawr 2019
	5.2 Gohebiaeth gan Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru at y Cadeirydd – Egwyddorion Amgylcheddol a Llywodraethu Amgylcheddol yng Nghymru
	5.3 Gohebiaeth gan Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru at y Cadeirydd – Egwyddorion Amgylcheddol a Llywodraethu Amgylcheddol
	Annwyl Mike
	Llywodraethu’r Amgylchedd ac Egwyddorion
	Y gwahaniaethau rhwng archwilio a rheoleiddio
	Cynigion Llywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer corff goruchwylio amgylcheddol newydd a’r goblygiadau ar gyfer cyflawni fy swyddogaethau i
	Lefel ymgysylltiad Llywodraeth Cymru ynghylch y modd y gallai fy swyddogaeth ffitio gyda’r trefniadau llywodraethu amgylcheddol newydd
	Barn am unrhyw agwedd arall ar ymgynghoriad Llywodraeth Cymru, a materion eraill ym maes gorchwyl y Pwyllgor.
	Osgoi sefyllfa lle mae swyddogaethau nifer o gyrff yn gorgyffwrdd neu’n cydgloi
	Osgoi cyfuno swyddogaethau cynghori a swyddogaethau adolygu yn yr un corff
	Osgoi amlhad swyddogaethau ac egwyddorion mewn system adolygu
	Trefniadau cyllido a llywodraethu sy’n sicrhau digon o annibyniaeth ac yn osgoi cymhelliant croes
	Hawliau mynediad cadarn


	5.4 Gohebiaeth gan Gomisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru at y Cadeirydd – Llywodraethu ac Egwyddorion Amgylcheddol
	8 Cynnig ar gyfer Sioe Frenhinol Cymru

